# Florida International University FIU Digital Commons

FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations

University Graduate School

11-9-2018

# Superoxide Dismutase C Modulates Macropinocytosis and Phagocytosis in Dictyostelium Discoideum

Cong Gu cgu001@fiu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biochemistry Commons</u>, <u>Cell Biology Commons</u>, and the <u>Molecular Biology</u> <u>Commons</u>

**Recommended** Citation

Gu, Cong, "Superoxide Dismutase C Modulates Macropinocytosis and Phagocytosis in Dictyostelium Discoideum" (2018). *FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3887. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/3887

This work is brought to you for free and open access by the University Graduate School at FIU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of FIU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcc@fu.edu.

## FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

# SUPEROXIDE DISMUTASE C MODULATES MACROPINOCYTOSIS AND PHAGOCYTOSIS IN DICTYOSTELIUM DISCOIDEUM

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

# BIOCHEMISTRY

by

Cong Gu

2018

To: Dean Michael R. Heithaus College of Arts, Sciences, and Education

This dissertation, written by Cong Gu, and entitled Superoxide Dismutase C Modulates Macropinocytosis and Phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium Discoideum*, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this dissertation and recommend that it be approved.

Xiaotang Wang

Jessica Liberles

Lidia Kos

Lou W. Kim, Major Professor

Date of Defense: November 9, 2018

The dissertation of Cong Gu is approved.

Dean Michael R. Heithaus College of Arts, Sciences and Education

Andres G. Gill Vice President for Research and Economic Development and Dean of the University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2018

# DEDICATION

To my Family and friends for their support

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Lou W. Kim, for his patience and immense support during the past four years. His contribution to my project as well as on my career have been invaluable to me and helps me grow as a research scientist. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Xiaotang Wang, Dr. Jessica Liberles and Dr. Lidia Kos for their insightful comments and ideas which widen my research from various perspectives. My lab members, Ms. Maria Pulido, Dr. Boris Castillo, Dr. Adwait Kabra and Dr. Mujataba Rahiman Sharief have also helped me a lot whenever I had problems with my research.

My sincere thanks also goes to Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry of FIU which provides me with a teaching assistantship and a precious opportunity to pursue my research these years which has totally changed my life. Lastly, I would like to thank my mother Ting Ju and my father Qiang Gu for their love and great support which enables me to grow up and pursue my study abroad. Especially, I would like to thank my beloved girlfriend Yue Qu for her accompanying even if it's only through cell phone and for the love and encouragement since the day I met her.

### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

# SUPEROXIDE DISMUTASE C MODULATES MACROPINOCYTOSIS AND PHAGOCYTOSIS IN DICTYOSTELIUM DISCOIDEUM

by

Cong Gu

Florida International University, 2018

Miami, Florida

Professor Lou W. Kim, Major Professor

Macropinocytosis and phagocytosis, two actin-dependent and clathrin independent events of endocytosis, enable cells like macrophages and neutrophils to either internalize pathogens and initiates the human innate immune response or serve as a direct entry route for a productive infection from pathogens. *Dictyostelium discoideum*, a soil-living amoeba, is a unicellular eukaryote that internalizes fluids or particles several fold more than that of macrophages and neutrophils. Additionally, multiple key signaling pathways are conserved between *Dictyostelium* and mammalian cells, including pathways affecting small GTPases Ras and Rac and their downstream effectors, and F-Actin remodeling. All these traits makes *Dictyostelium* an excellent model organism to study the process of macropinocytosis and phagocytosis.

Upon internalization of a food item, these macropinocytes and phagocytes are often in an environment of increased production of superoxide radicals in the food-containing vesicles,

which helps stimulate the downstream signaling pathways to digest the food inside. However, the mechanism of how superoxide regulates the process of macropinocytosis and phagocytosis is not fully understood. We previously reported that *Dictyostelium* cells lacking Superoxide dismutase C (SodC) exhibited aberrantly high level of active RasG, high basal level of Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3), and severe chemotaxis defects. Now we report that  $sodC^{-}$  cells displayed aberrant endosomal vesicle trafficking, significantly compromised particle uptake and defective cell to substratum matrix adhesion compared to that of wild type cells. By using high resolution live imaging microscope we also show that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells have defects in F-Actin remodeling at the phagocytic rim extension and F-Actin depolymerization of the nascent phagosome. Interestingly, the introduction of overexpressing of cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA), redox insensitive RasG (C118A) or treatment of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 in sodC<sup>-</sup> cells significantly rescued the defects of endosomal vesicle trafficking, particle uptake and adhesion. This project suggests that superoxide dismutase C regulates the endosomal vesicle trafficking, phagocytosis and cell to substratum matrix adhesion through the RasG/PI3K signaling axis in *Dictyostelium* cells.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	PAGE
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Up-taking Extracellular Materials by Eukaryotic Cells	1
1.2 Clathrin-dependent Endocytosis	1
1.3 Caveolae-dependent Endocytosis	5
1.4 Macropinocytosis	7
1.5 Phagocytosis	13
1.6 Cell to Substratum Matrix Adhesion	23
1.7 Cell to Cell Adhesion	28
CHAPTER 2. THE ROLE OF SUPEROXIDE, RASG AND PI3K IN REGULATION	NC
OF MACROPINOCYTOSIS	30
2.1 Introduction	30
2.2 Materials and Methods	34
2.2.1 Dictyostelium Development and Growth	34
2.2.2 Analysis of Pinocytosis using FITC Labeled Dextran	35
2.3 Results	36
2.3.1 sodC <sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking while the	ne
Total Amount of Fluid Phase Uptake was Unaffected	36
2.3.2 sodC::SodA cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesic	le
Trafficking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	37
2.3.3 sodC::RasG(C118A) Cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosor	mal
Vesicle Trafficking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	37
2.3.4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Aberrar	nt
Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	38
2.3.5 PI3K inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Inhibited Macropinocytosis of	f
both Wt and sodC <sup>-</sup> Cells	38
2.4 Figures	40
CHAPTER 3. THE ROLE OF SUPEROXIDE, RASG AND PI3K IN REGULATION	NC
OF PHAGOCYTOSIS	46
3.1 Introduction	46
3.2 Materials and Methods	52
3.2.1 Dictyostelium Development and Growth	52
3.2.2 Bacterial Cell Culture	52
3.2.3 Transfection	53
3.2.4 Analysis of Phagocytosis using TRITC Labeled Yeasts	53

3.2.5 Analysis of Phagocytosis using Microscope	55
3.3 Results	55
3.3.1 sodC <sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Phagocytosis	55
3.3.2 sodC <sup>-</sup> ::SodA Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of	
<i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	56
3.3.3 sodC:: RasG(C118A) Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of	
Phagocytosis of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	56
3.3.4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Defects of	•
Phagocytosis of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	57
3.3.5 sodC <sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in F-Actin Remodeling during Phagocytosis	58
3.3.6 Sodium/Hydrogen Exchanger 1 Inhibitor EIPA Treatment didn't affect	t
Phagocytosis of Wt and sodC <sup>-</sup> Cells	59
3.4 Figures	60
CHARTER 4 THE DOLE OF SURPOVINE DASC AND DOZ IN DECULATION	r
CHAPTER 4. THE ROLE OF SUPEROAIDE, RASG AND PISK IN REGULATION	67
4.1 Introduction	07
4.1 Introduction	07
4.2 Materials and Methods	70
4.2.1 Diciyosieitum Development and Growth	70
4.2.2 Cen Aulesion Assay	70
4.5 Results	71
$4.3.2$ sod $C^{-1}$ : Sod Cells Partially Rescued the Defects in Cell-to-Matrix	/ 1
Adhesion	72
4.3.3 sodC $\cdots$ RasG(C118A) Cells Partially Rescued the Defects in Cell-to-	/ 2
Matrix Adhesion	72
4.3.4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Defects in	
Cell-to-Matrix Adhesion of $sodC^{-}$ Cells	73
4.4 Figures	74
8	
CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION	76
5.1 Potential Roles of SodC in Fluid Phase Up-taking and Trafficking	76
5.2 Potential Roles of SodC in Particle Up-taking	79
5.3 Time-lapse Analysis of Particle Up-taking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells	82
5.4 Potential Roles of SodC in Cell-Substratum Adhesion	83
5.5 Future Direction	83
	00
KEFEKENCES	88
VITA	101

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE PAGE
Figure 1 <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking
Figure 2 <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> :: <i>SodA</i> Cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells
Figure 3 <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> :: <i>RasG(C118A)</i> Cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells
Figure 4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells
Figure 5 <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Phagocytosis
Figure 6 <i>sodC<sup>-</sup>::SodA</i> Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of <i>sodC<sup>-</sup></i> Cells
Figure 7 <i>sodC<sup>-</sup>:: RasG(C118A)</i> Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of <i>sodC<sup>-</sup></i> Cells
Figure 8 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells
Figure 9 sodC <sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in F-Actin Remodeling during Phagocytosis
Figure 10 Sodium/Hydrogen Exchanger 1 Inhibitor EIPA Treatment didn't affect Phagocytosis of <i>Wt</i> and <i>sodC</i> <sup>-</sup> Cells
Figure 11 The Role of SodC in regulation of Cell to Substratum Matrix Adhesion 75

# ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ABBREVIATION	FULL NAME
Arp2/3	actin-related protein 2/3 complex
cAMP	3'-5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CFP	Cyan fluorescent protein
CR3	Complement receptor 3
DB	Developmental buffer
DNA	Deoxyribose nucleic acid
FITC	Fluoroscene Isothiocyanate
F-actin	Filamentous actin
FcγR	Fc-gamma receptor
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor
GTPase	Enzyme that hydrolyzes guanosine triphosphate
Hr	Hour
IP3	Inositol-1,4,5-Triphosphate
JH10	Dictyostelium auxotrophic wild type strain
kD	Kilo Dalton

L	Liter
LB	Luria broth
LY294002	Inhibitor of phosphoinositide 3-kinases
mg	Milligram
min	Minute
mL	Milliliter
mm	Millimeter
mM	Millimolar
NADPH oxidase	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-ĸB
NHE	Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> exchanger
NOX	NADPH oxidase
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
PIP3	Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate
PI(4,5)P2	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
РКВ	Protein Kinase B
Ras	Rat sarcoma

RasG	Ras-like protein rasG
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SD	Standard deviation
sodC-	Ablation of Superoxide Discmutase C
TorC2	Target of Rapamicin Complex 2
TRITC	Tetramethylrhodamine
μg	Microgram
μΙ	Microliter
μm	Micrometer
μΜ	Micromolar
μ	Micro
WASP	Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
WASH	WASP and SCAR homolog
Wt	Wild type

## **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Up-taking Extracellular Materials by Eukaryotic Cells

External materials can enter cells through a variety of processes. As a consequence of internalization, vesicles containing extracellular materials form, and soon start to travel through various routes (Kaksonen and Roux, 2018). The initial vesicles are either small (60-120 nm) or large (up to several micrometers). These processes cover not only the highly specific receptor-mediated processes but also rather general bulk up-taking of fluids, and thus multiple cellular processes are dependent on these processes. Examples of such events include nutrient up-taking, signaling receptor trafficking, apoptotic cell removal, and host-pathogen interaction. Processes of up-taking extracellular materials can be further subdivided into four categories: clathrin-dependent endocytosis, caveolae-dependent endocytosis, macropinocytosis, and phagocytosis.

#### **1.2 Clathrin-dependent Endocytosis**

Clathrin-dependent endocytosis is one form of endocytosis which is named after the endocytic coat protein, clathrin. The complete process can be separated into four stages (figure 1). (I). Clathrin and other accessory proteins start to be enriched at the cortical region of the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. (II). Extracellular materials bound to their cognate receptors are then recruited through association with coating proteins which leads to the invagination of the plasma membrane. (III). Actin and proteins like dynamin that facilitate membrane fission separate the neck of the invaginating plasma membrane. The extracellular materials containing vesicles are still coated with Clathrin. (IV). Clathrin coats then dissociate from the vesicle and form naked vesicles. These naked vesicles contain and recruit various proteins to steer their way through various vesicular trafficking routes of the cell (Kaksonen and Roux, 2018).



#### Figure 1. Stages of Clathrin-dependent Endocytosis

Cytosolic clathrin and other coating proteins aggregates at the plasma membrane to associate with extracellular materials which leads to the membrane invagination. Actin and dynamin then work cooperatively to cut the neck of invaginating plasma membrane. Clathrin and other coating proteins are then dissociated from the naked vesicles which leads to various routes of vesicle trafficking. (Modified from Kaksonen and Roux, 2018)

It has been reported that in mammalian cells, BAR domain (Bin, amphiphysin and

Rvs) proteins F-BAR domain only protein 1 (FCHO1) and FCHO2 (Henne et al., 2010), the Clathrin adaptor protein AP2 complex, epidermal growth factor receptor substrate 15 (EPS15) and monomeric cargo adaptors proteins are involved in the early initiation step of the Clathrin-dependent endocytic events (figure 2). The current paradigm assumes that FCHO1/2 and AP2 proteins, which associate with the plasma membrane, recruit proteins such as Clathrin, EPS15, and monomeric cargo adaptor proteins to the endocytic site and initiate endocytosis. Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PI(4,5)P2) has also been considered as another critical regulator that affects the initiation of endocytosis and assembly of endocytic coat considering the fact that many adaptor proteins bind specifically to PI(4,5)P2 (Zoncu et al., 2007).



Figure 2 Early Initiation Step of the Clathrin-dependent Endocytosis

Current model assumes that activated FCHO1/2 and AP2 proteins are localized at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. The activation of FCHO1/2 and AP2 proteins leads to the recruitment of Clathrin, EPS15, and monomeric cargo adaptor proteins to the site of extracellular ligands and promotes clathrin-dependent endocytosis. (Modified from Kaksonen and Roux, 2018)

In yeasts, during the early period of Clathrin-dependent endocytosis, Las17 (prolin-

rich protein Las17; homologue of mammalian Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP)) and type I myosins (Myo3/5) are reported to activate actin-related protein 2/3 complex (Arp2/3) and thus directionally promote actin polymerization at the site of membrane invagination (figure 3) (Sirotkin et al., 2005). Homologue of mammalian Huntingtininteracting protein 1-related protein (Sla2) and epsin 1 (Ent1), two of the Clathrin adaptors, then associate Clathrin coated invaginating structure with actin filaments and facilitate plasma membrane invagination (Sun et al., 2015).



**Figure 3 Actin mediated Membrane Invagination in Yeasts** 

In yeasts, Las17 (homologue of WASP) and type I myosins (Myo3/5) regulates the Actin dynamics at the site of membrane invagination by activating actin-related protein 2/3 complex (Arp2/3). Clathrin adaptors proteins Sla2 and Ent1 act as linkage to associate clathrin with dynamic Actin filaments to promote the membrane invagination of clathrin-dependent endocytosis. (Modified from Kaksonen and Roux, 2018)

Invagination of the membrane is followed by fission event in which at least two groups of proteins are involved. First, Formin-binding protein 17 (FBP17) and Sorting Nexin 9 and 18 (SNX9/18) are recruited to the neck of the invaginating membrane (Wu et al., 2010), and then another group of proteins such as endophilin and amphiphysin are clustered, coupled with actin, and promote the fission of the invaginating membrane (figure 4) (Takei et al., 1999). Additionally, the recruitment of dynamin-GTP to the neck of membrane invagination redistributes auxilin/ heat shock cognate 71 kDa protein (HSC70) to its location, which helps drive the fission of the membrane pit. Completion of fission is followed by the GTP hydrolysis of dynamin-GTP, which in turn relocates dynamin to cytoplasm and interfere with its interaction with auxilin/HSC and thus drive the uncoating of clathrin (Ungewickell, 1985, Newmyer et al., 2003). At the same time, a number of adaptor proteins that bind to PI(4,5)P2 dissociate as PIP2 becomes PI4P by 5'-phosphtases such as SHP2 and OCRL (McPherson et al., 1996).



Figure 4. Fission and Uncoating Event of Clathrin-dependent Endocytosis

FBP17 and SNX9/18 are recruited to the neck of the nascent membrane invagination which is coated with Clathrin and adaptor proteins to initiate the fission of membrane. Another group of proteins including endophilin, amphiphysin, actin filament, dynamin-GTP, auxilin and HSC70 are then clustered to the neck of membrane and promotes the completion of fission event. The inactivation of dynamin then drives the dissociation of auxilin, HSC and other clathrin coating proteins concomitantly with the dissociation of adaptor proteins which bind to PI(4,5)P2 during the SHP2 and OCRL mediated dephosphorylation of PI(4,5)P2. (Modified from Kaksonen and Roux, 2018)

### 1.3 Caveolae-dependent Endocytosis

Caveolae are non-clathrin-coated invaginations from plasma membrane, of which shape resemble that of a flask or letter omega and typically enriched with cholesterol and sphingolipids and have been found in multiple types of eukaryotic cells (Pelkmans and Helenius, 2002). In recent studies, Caveolae-dependent endocytosis has been reported to be a pathway of uptaking extracellular material in parallel with Clathrin-dependent endocytosis. Caveolae are generally thought to be involved in several biological processes such as signal transduction, lipid metabolism and vesicular transport. Caveolin-1, a small integral membrane protein localized in the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, has been suggested to be one of the main structural proteins of caveolae and responsible for the morphology of caveolae (Anderson, 1998). Furthermore, the N terminal domain of caveolin-1 has been shown to associate specifically with the hydrophobic core of cholesterol and sphingolipids (Pelkmans and Helenius, 2002). Caveolin-1 becomes tyrosine phosphorylated as extracellular materials load, which in turn initiate the internalization of caveolae. Caveolin-1 then couples with the GTPase Dynamin and actin cytoskeleton, which together execute the scission of the neck of caveolae and inward transportation of caveolae (Parton et al., 1994). After completion of Caveolae fission, motor proteins are suggested to drive the caveolae along the microtubules (Mundy, 2002). Upon internalization of caveolae, multicaveolar complexes called Caveosomes will follow different routes depending on the presence of specific trafficking cues on the Caveosomes. Certain Caveosomes will travel through the classical endocytic route towards lysosome for degradation, while Caveosomes that contain viruses often times do not fuse with lysosomes and allow viruses to escape from the digestion pathway to lysosome (Pelkmans et al., 2001). Figure 5 highlights the events that constitute the Caveolin-dependent endocytosis.



#### Figure 5. Caveolae-dependent Endocytosis

Caveolin-1, one of the main structural proteins of caveolae, is associated with the enriched cholesterol and sphingolipids at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane which in turn initiates the internalization of caveolae. Multicaveolar complexes caveosomes will go through different routes depending on the trafficking cues on the caveosomes. Caveosomes containing viruses often escape the classical endocytic routes from being digested.

#### **1.4 Macropinocytosis**

Macropinocytosis is actin-dependent and clathrin-independent mechanism of internalization of bulk fluid phase. Macropinocytosis occurs both spontaneously and in an extracellular signal dependent manner. In both cases, dynamic actin driven membrane protrusions such as circular ruffles or ones that are similar to the Lamellipodia capture extracellular materials as the protruding structures close at the base of plasma membrane. Interestingly, non-dedicated phagocytes that are incapable of up-taking large particles through phagocytosis could internalize bacteria and viruses through macropinocytosis (Francis et al., 1993), which leads to the capability of uptaking numerous kinds of extracellular materials for those cells that are not the professional phagocytes. The Lamellipodia-like protrusions arise from the base of the plasma membrane, fold back, fuse with the base of the plasma membrane, and form nascent macropinosomes (figure 6). On the other hand, multiple protrusions can exist in circular ruffles that can fuse with each other and form the macropinosome (figure 6) (Swanson, 2008). After complete closure, a macropinosome will be released from the plasma membrane and moves inward to the cytosol and undergoes macropinosome maturation.

The binding of extracellular ligand to receptor tyrosine kinase (RTKs) leads to the dimerization and activation of RTK, which in turn stimulates a signaling cascade to regulate Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane and triggers membrane protrusion (figure 7) (Maniak, 2001). After activation of RTKs, small G proteins including Rac1, Rab5 or Arf6 are activated (Bar-Sagi and Feramisco, 1986). The activation of Rac1 mediates the Actin remodeling stimulation and macropinosome closure, which is mediated by the activation of actin polymerization effector and myosindependent contraction regulator (Ridley et al., 1992). It has been shown that once Rab GTPase Rab 5 is activated, Rab 5 relocalizes to the circular ruffles together with Rab5 GAP/effector RN-tre and thus mediate Actin-associated membrane ruffle formation and macropinosome trafficking (Ridley et al., 1992). ADP-ribosylation factor 6 (ARF6), an ARF GTPase, has been reported to promote the formation of ruffles and macropinocytosis by localizing Rac1 to the plasma membrane in addition to its contribution to macropinosome trafficking and F-Actin remodeling (Radhakrishna et al., 1999).

Apart from small G proteins, kinase is another widely reported regulator of macropinocytosis (Mercer and Helenius, 2009). Serine/threonine-protein kinase (Pak1), also known as p21-activated kinase 1 which can be activated by Rac1. The activation of Pak 1 can further regulate the signaling pathway to promote macropinosome closure by activating carboxy-terminal-binding protein-1 (CtBP1) (Liberali et al., 2008).

Protein kinase C (PKC) also stimulates the formation of membrane ruffles and macropinosome. Interestingly, the activation of PKC by phorbol esters can induce macropinocytosis in a receptor activation-independent manner (Swanson, 1989), which can be regarded as a compensation pathway for ensuring macropinocytosis in the circumstance of receptor dysfunction. Additionally, c-Src, a non-receptor type tyrosine kinase, is activated and recruited to the site of ruffle formation at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane to further activate the downstream proteins such as Rac1, actin related protein 2/3 complex (Arp 2/3), and PI3K to cooperatively promote the RTK mediated macropinocytosis signaling (Donepudi and Resh, 2008, Amyere et al., 2000). In addition, Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers, also known as NHE, have been found to be involved in macropinocytosis: the inhibition of NHE with its specific inhibitor EIPA led to the inhibition of membrane ruffles formation (West et al., 1989). However, considering that NHE could affect multiple signaling events through dysregulation of the cytoplasmic pH, the function of NHE in regulating membrane ruffles formation still requires extensive future research. It is also important to note that the Actin cytoskeleton remodeling is critical

for proper macropinocytosis given that the membrane ruffle formation heavily relies on the Nucleation Promoting Factors for F-Actin such as WAVE and Arp2/3 (Buccione et al., 2004).

Upon completion of macropinosomal membrane fission, multiple molecular events facilitate macropinopinosome maturation and trafficking. Proper regulation of phosphoinositides seems to be essential as PI3K is indispensable for the closure of macropinosome (Amyere et al., 2000). Myosin II, one of the mostly well characterized motor proteins and is mainly responsible for the contractile activity of cells, plays critical role in membrane ruffle formation and macropinosome closure (Araki, 2003). Recent studies indicates that, in addition to the modulation of CtBP-1 in macropinosomal cup, CtBP-1 also plays a role in the closure of macropinosome since the inhibition of CtBP-1 prevented the completion of macropinosome closure (Liberali et al., 2008). After complete closure, macropinosomes detach from the plasma membrane and start to traffic inwardly to various cytosolic routes. As they travel, they will undergo maturation steps which include acidification, fusion with endosome, recycling back to the plasma membrane, or fusion with lysosomes which contains digestive enzymes to help digest the cargo in macropinosome (Hewlett et al., 1994).





Figure 6. Actin-dependent Macropinosome Formation

The extracellular ligands stimulate the Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement at the plasma membrane, which induces the formation of membrane protrusion in the form of lamellipodia-like or circular ruffles. Lamellipodia-like protrusions arise, fold back, fuse with the base of the plasma membrane, and form nascent macropinosomes. Similarly in circular ruffles, multiple protrusions fuse with each other to form macropinosomes. Macropinosomes are then dissociated from the plasma membrane and undergo lateral maturation step. (Modified from Mercer and Helenius, 2009)



Figure 7. Signaling Pathways of RTK-dependent Macropinocytosis

The binding of extracellular ligand to receptor tyrosine kinase (RTKs) leads to the dimerization and activation of RTK, which in turn stimulates a variety of molecules such as small GTPases, kinases and PI3K to regulate downstream Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. All of these signaling pathways working cooperatively to regulate Actin-dependent membrane protrusion which is required for macropinosome trafficking and closure. (Modified from Kaksonen and Roux, 2018)

## **1.5 Phagocytosis**

Phagocytosis is the process by which cells bind and internalize large particle which is larger than 0.5µm in diameter. Phagocytosis could serve as a means of up-taking nutrients in protists, such as amoeba, but it could also be used as a mechanism of defense for cells dedicated for defense. Macrophages and neutrophils from higher eukaryotes are well-known examples of cells dedicated for defense, but certain amoeba such as Sentinel cells of *Dictyostelium discoideum* also actively utilize Pattern recognition Receptor mediated phagocytosis and thus operate the innate immune system. Phagocytosis thus functions not only as a means of capturing nutrients, but also as a part of innate immune system of both lower and higher eukaryotes.

Phagocytosis is a complex series of molecular events that could be organized into six stages. (I). The extracellular particle binding to the cell surface through a certain receptor. (II). Activation of signaling events that induce the phagocytic cup formation at the base of the particle binding site. (III). Elongation of the rim of the phagocytic cup. (IV). Phagocytic cup closure and actin-coat dissociation. (V). Trafficking of phagosome toward lysosome for destruction of the particle. (VI). Excretion of indigestible material through exocytosis.

The first step of phagocytosis, adhesion of the extracellular particles to cell surface receptor, is mediated by a variety of receptors tailored for the diverse types of extracellular materials.

Although diverse these phagocytic receptors can be grouped into two categories: receptors recognizing exogenous ligands and receptors targeting part of apoptosed cells. Toll-like receptors (TLRs), one of the receptors recognizing exogenous ligands, has been reported to target pathogens like bacteria and parasites. Similarly, phagocytic receptors like scavenger receptor A (CD204) can detect lipopolysaccharide and lipoteichoic acid of bacteria (Peiser et al., 2000). Another example is mannose receptor (CD206) which specifically targets yeast cells by recognizing yeast polysaccharides (Ezekowitz et al., 1990). Fc gamma receptor (FcyR) binds to the Fc region of immunoglobulin G (IgG) and CR3 detects the complement component iC3b (Anderson et al., 1990, Ross et al., 1992). Interestingly, certain regulatory protein such as small GTPase Rap1 was shown to enhance the binding affinity of CR3 to its ligand iC3b upon receiving activation signal from LPS and inflammatory signaling (Caron et al., 2000), which is generally called inside-out signaling of integrin receptors. Surprisingly, some pathogens have evolved the ability to disturb the binding of opsonins to  $Fc\gamma R$  or CR3 and thus prevent them from being phagocytosed. For instance, it has been found that some bacteria and fungi species can produce polysaccharide-based capsules which hampers the deposition of opsonin. Other bacteria species are capable of the synthesis of special surface proteins that prevent the binding of bacteria and its cognate receptor. Moreover, some pathogens like Staphylococcus aureus, specifically utilizes a protein called Protein A to interfere with FcyR-mediated phagocytosis, which is accomplished by high potency binding of protein A

to Fc region of IgG (Foster, 2005). Apart from the receptors which detect exogenous ligands, a variety of receptors that target endogenous ligands, such as ones on apoptosed cells, exist. In recent studies, it has been suggested that apoptotic cells usually synthesize chemoattractant molecules such as ATP, lysophosphatidylcholine, fractalkine, and sphingosine 1-phosphate during apoptosis to direct the phagocytes recruit to the sites of apoptotic cells (Chekeni and Ravichandran, 2011). To be differentiated from the healthy cells, apoptotic cells always re-localize phosphatidylserine (PS) to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane which can then be detected by a variety of receptors such as Stabilin-2, TIM (T cell immunoglobulin mucin) family (Kobayashi et al., 2007). Among all these receptors that engage in the detection of extracellular ligand, FcyR mediated internalization of IgG coated antigen is of great importance in immunology and has been studied widely. Basically, it can be subdivided into two stages. (I). An IgG coated antigen binds to FcyR. (II). The activation of FcyR initiates a signaling cascade which drives the internalization of IgG coated antigen in an Actin-dependent manner.

The Fc receptors have always been found clustered together which is important for stimulating lateral cellular processes (Holowka et al., 2007). Immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motif (ITAM), which resides in the cytosolic domain of Fc receptors, is then phosphorylated by Hck, Lyn, Fgr or Src-family kinases (SFK) (Hamada et al., 1993). The activation of ITAM is required for proper signaling of phagocytosis. After activation of ITAM, spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk) is recruited to the docking site of ITAM through specific phosphor-tyrosine - Src homology 2 (SH2) binding between the SH2 domains of Syk and phosphorylated ITAM (Johnson et al., 1995). The activation of Syk was shown to be essential for transmitting signals to several downstream adaptor proteins. For instance, transmembrane protein linker of activated T cells (LAT) was recruited to FcyR /Syk complex and phosphorylated by Syk (Zhang et al., 1998). Subsequently, Grb2 was recruited to the phosphorylated LAT through its SH2 domain, which in turn invited Grb2associated binder (Gab2). Activated Gab2 can further activate downstream PI3K and produce phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate [PI(3,4,5)P3] at the plasma membrane, which is important to induce the recruitment of other downstream proteins. Additionally, CrkII, another adaptor protein, can also bind to the phagocytic cup through its SH2 domain and help phagocytosis (Lee et al., 2007). In addition to adaptor proteins, lipid also plays an essential role in regulating phagocytosis. For example, Phosphatidylinositol-4,5bisphosphate [PI(4,5)P2], which uniformly localizes at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane of resting phagocytes. However, during phagocytosis, PI(4,5)P2 was observed to transiently increase its level at the site of phagocytic cup and then quickly disappear afterwards (Botelho et al., 2000). Currently several signaling pathways regulating the disappearance of PI(4,5)P2 have been reported. For instance, phospholipase C $\gamma$  (PLC $\gamma$ ), which is known to be a phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase  $C\gamma$ , is activated and then recruited to the site of phagocytic cup formation through the binding of SH2 domain of PLCy and LAT (Liao et al., 1992). Activated PLCy then converts PI(4,5)P2 to inositol3,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). DAG acts as a regulator to modulate the activity of protein kinase C $\epsilon$  (PKC $\epsilon$ ), which promotes phaogocytosis (Larsen et al., 2002). On the other hand, PI(4,5)P2 can also be phosphorylated by class I phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) to produce PI(3,4,5)P3 at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane (Marshall et al., 2001). One of the functions of PI(3,4,5)P3 is to stabilize Gab2, and thus promote Fc $\gamma$ R mediated phagocytosis (Gu et al., 2003).

In addition to the phosphoinositides, small GTPases act as essential regulator of phagocytosis. After the activation of cell division control protein 42 (Cdc42), two other Rho family small GTPases, Rac1 and Rac2, are subsequently localized and activated at the nascent phagosome or the base of phagocytic cup, respectively (Hoppe, 2004). Macrophages or neutrophils of double-knockout ( $rac1^{-/-}$ ,  $rac2^{-/-}$ ) or single-knockout ( $rac2^{-/-}$ ) mice showed significantly defective phagocytosis, suggesting that Rac1 and Rac2 are involved in the regulation of phagocytosis (Koh et al., 2005). The activation of Rac requires the recruitment of CrkII-mediated Dock180-ELMO1 and Syk-mediated binding of Vav proteins (Lee et al., 2007, Deckert et al., 1996).

The actin cytoskeleton rearrangement has been regarded as a driving force for the formation of phagocytic cup. The formation of actin filament requires the nucleation of actin monomers. Actin-related protein-2/3 (ARP2/3), one of the Actin nucleation factor, can specifically promotes the formation of a newly formed Actin filament from the side of an existing Actin filament (May et al., 2000). The activation of Arp2/3 requires the

activation of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP) family which include WASP, N-WASP and the Scar/WAVE proteins. Small GTPase Rac, Cdc42 and PI(4,5)P2 can act as the upstream regulators of WASP family proteins. After binding of Cdc42 and PI(4,5)P2 to WASP, the VCA (verprolin homology, cofilin homology, and acidic) domain of WASP is then exposed and provide a docking site for the binding and activation of Arp2/3 complex (Higgs and Pollard, 2000). Myosin, an ATP-dependent protein, is well known for being responsible for the contraction of muscle. It is also known as Actin-associated protein which helps Actin-based membrane protrusion in a variety of motility processes such as phagocytosis in eukaryotes. Early studies indicates that Myosin X has been reported as involved in formation of phagosomes during FcγR mediated internalization of large particles in a PI3K-dependent manner (Cox et al., 2002). Signaling network of Actin Polymerization in FcγR mediated Phagocytosis is summarized in figure 8.



Figure 8. Signaling of Actin Polymerization in FcyR mediated Phagocytosis

The binding of extracellular ligands to clustered  $Fc\gamma R$  stimulates multiple signaling which in turn activates the Actin polymerization at the site of phagocytic cup. The molecules involved in the regulation of Actin dynamics includes kinases, adaptor proteins, lipidregulation enzymes, small GTPases, nucleotide exchange factors and nucleation promoting factors. The vast network of Actin polymerization signaling plays an important role in Fc $\gamma R$  meditaed phagocytosis. (Modified from Flannagan et al., 2011)

In addition to phagocytic receptor  $Fc\gamma R$ , complement receptor 3 (CR3), which is also known as Macrophage-1 antigen or  $\alpha_M\beta_2$  integrin, is of great importance and has been widely studied in immunology. First of all, RhoA activates the serine/threonine kinase Rho kinase (ROCK) followed by the activation of myosin II (Olazabal et al., 2002). Activated myosin II then helps stimulates Arp 2/3 to contribute to F-Actin dynamics at the site of phagocytic cup. On the other hand, RhoA activates formin mDia1, a Rho-GTPase effector protein, to induce F-Actin polymerization during phagocytosis (Colucci-Guyon et al., 2005). Microtubules have also been suggested to contribute to the CR3 mediated phagocytosis through the interaction of microtubule associated protein CLIP-170 and mDia1 (Lewkowicz et al., 2008). Figure 9 highlights these events.



Figure 9. Signaling of Actin Polymerization in CR3 mediated Phagocytosis

The binding of complement component iC3b coated particle stimulates the activation of CR3, which in turn activates small GTPase RhoA. RhoA then stimulates two signaling pathways to regulate the Actin polymerization at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane and thus regulate phagocytosis. One signaling is through the activation of ROCK, Actinassociated protein (myosin II) and Actin nucleation regulator (Arp2/3). The other signaling is the activation of Actin filament elongation factor formin (mDia1), which is amplified by the interaction with microtubule through microtubule associated protein (CLIP-170). (Modified from Flannagan et al., 2011)

After the internalization of particles, Rab5 promotes the fusion of the nascent phagosome with an early endosome to form an early phagosome. Additionally, Rab5 can also mediate the recruitment and activation of other effector proteins. For instance, mVps34, a class III PI3K, has been found to be recruited to the phagosome after recruitment of Rab5 (Vieira et al., 2001). Mammalian Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (mVps34) specifically produces PI(3)P which is required for the phagosome maturation. PI(3)P-specific PX or FYVE domain containing proteins such as EEA1 and p40 subunit of the NADPH oxidase are then accumulating on the membrane of early phagosome (Ellson et al., 2006, Fratti et al., 2001). An early study suggested that EEA1 can bind directly to Rab5, which can in turn promote the Rab5-mediated docking of a nascent phagosome with an early endosome (Simonsen et al., 1998). Early endosome antigen 1 (EEA1) concomitantly associates with the universal mediator of membrane fusion, soluble Nethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) and thus facilitate the fusion with early endosome (McBride et al., 1999).

Following internalization of the nascent phagosome, a certain group of proteins must return to the plasma membrane to allow for the next round of phagocytosis. For example, some of the transferrin receptors are recycled back to the plasma membrane in a Rab4 and Rab11 mediated manner (Cox et al., 2000). Furthermore, hampering a recycling step was shown to significantly impair phagocytosis of IgG coated particles (Cox et al., 2000). Further maturation of the phagosome involves fusion with lysosomes which contain digestive enzymes that digest the contents inside of the phagosome. Additionally, vacuolar ATPase (V-ATPase), localized on the membrane of the phagosome, acts as a proton pump to deliver  $H^+$  into the lumen of phagosome and causes a strong acidification of lumen. which helps degradation of the contents. Furthermore, increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) inside the phagosome is often observed, which is believed to induce ROS-dependent killing of invading pathogens. One of the ROS compounds, superoxide, is generated by a multi-subunit Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Hydrogen Oxidase (NADPH oxidase or NOX) complex, which contains small GTPase Rac as well as other accessory and catalytic subunits. In response to an activating signal, one of the NOX isoform subunits, NOX2, and its cytosolic components, p40<sup>phox</sup>, p47<sup>phox</sup>, p67<sup>phox</sup>, Rac1, Rac2, and flavocytochrome  $b_{558}$  orchestrate transportation of an electron across the membrane of phagosome. The electron is then coupled with molecular oxygen and thus forms a superoxide radical  $(O_2^{-})$ . Superoxide radicals can be further converted to another ROS, hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  which directly targets the materials inside of phagosome (Winterbourn, 2008). These steps of phagosome maturation are summarized in figure 10.



#### Figure 10. Stages of Phagosome Maturation

Upon internalization of particles, Rab5 is recruited to the nascent phagosome which in turn induces the recruitment and activation of Vps34 and thus produce PI(3)P. PI(3)P-specific PX or FYVE domain containing proteins EEA1 is then recruited to membrane of phagosome and cooperate with Rab5 and soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) to regulate the fusion of nascent phagosome with early endosome. Rab4 and Rab11 are mainly responsible for the recycling of transferrin receptors back to plasma membrane to ensure next round of phagocytosis. Further maturation of phagosome involves vacuolar ATPase (V-ATPase) mediated acidification of phagosome lumen and production of ROS, which induces the degradation of contents of phagosome. (Modified from Flannagan et al., 2011)

## 1.6 Cell to Substratum Matrix Adhesion

Adhesion is the process by which cells attach to substratum matrix or other cells which is mediated by dedicated types of adhesion receptors. For example, the cell to substratum matrix adhesion is mainly through transmembrane integrin receptors, which provide linkage between extracellular ligands and intracellular signaling. Additionally, it has been reported that adhesion is of great importance and can regulate a variety of processes such as the cell cycle, cell migration, wound healing and development.
The dynamic process of cells to substratum matrix adhesion often involves several steps (figure 11). (I). The initial attachment of cells to substratum matrix via electrostatic interaction. (II). Flattening of cells in morphology concomitantly with the interaction of Integrin and substratum matrix. (III). Full spreading of cells through focal adhesion (FA) accompanied with strengthened adhesion complex (Huang et al., 2003, Hong et al., 2006).



Figure 11. Stages of Cell to Substratum Focal Adhesion (FA) Complex Formation The cell to substratum matrix adhesion starts with the initial attachment via electrostatic interaction which in turn leads to the flattening of cell in morphology through integrin bonding. Finally, cytoplasmic focal adhesion complex which is formed via integrin strengthen the adhesion between cell and substratum matrix. (Modified from Khalili and Ahmad, 2015)

Integrin, a transmembrane heterodimer protein which consists of alpha and beta

subtypes, plays an essential role to anchor cells to the substratum matrix (Saif et al., 2003). Basically, there are two different patterns of signaling mediated by integrin in the process of cell-to-substratum matrix adhesion, outside-in signaling and inside-out signaling (Luo

et al., 2007).

Outside-in signaling is the process by which an extracellular signal is transmitted

to the cytoplasm via an integrin receptor (figure 12). Outside-in signaling starts with the binding of cell surface integrin to substratum matrix ligands, which in turn induce the conformational change of the cytoplasmic domain of integrin and thus focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is activated (Guan, 2010). After the activation of FAK, SH2 domaincontaining Src is then recruited to the site of FAK and activates the downstream p130 CRKassociated substrate (p130CAS) followed by the activation of Crk, Rac and p21-activated protein kinases (PAK) (Schaller et al., 1994, Tikhmyanova et al., 2010). The activation of PAK regulates the Actin dynamics at the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, which is important in actin-related cellular processes such as cell migration and phagocytosis. FAK can also directly act as a scaffold protein to regulate the interaction of Rac and PAK. Additionally, FAK can regulate the activity of Arp2/3 and WASP to promote the polymerization of Actin filament. On the other hand, FAK can modulate the Actin remodeling in a Rho GTPase dependent manner. After the activation of Paxillin by FAK, PDZRhoGEF and p190RhoGEF are activated, both of which promote the replacement of GDP-RhoA with GTP-RhoA and thus stimulate the Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement (Turner et al., 1990, Iwanicki et al., 2008).



### Figure 12. Integrin mediated Outside-in Signaling in Cell to Substratum Matrix Adhesion

The binding between integrin and substratum matrix stimulates a conformational change in cytosolic domain of integrin and thus focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is activated. The activation of FAK in turn induces multiples signaling to regulate the Actin polymerization at the plasma membrane, which is essential for actin-related cellular processes such as cell migration and phagocytosis. One signaling is through the activation of Src, p130, Crk, Rac and PAK. Other signaling is either through the modulation of Actin nucleation promoting factor WASP and nucleation complex Arp2/3 or through the regulation of Paxillin and RhoA. (Modified from Menter and DuBois, 2012)

Conversely, inside-out signaling is the process by which intracellular signal transmitted to integrin leading to the conformational change of cytosolic domain and thus in turn changes the binding affinity between integrin and ligands (figure 13). Inside-out signaling mainly involves the regulation of talin and kindlin (Moser et al., 2009). After the activation of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR), Ca<sup>2+</sup> and diacylglycerol (DAG)

increase in the cytoplasm which can in turn activate GEF. The activation of GEF promotes the removal of GDP and binding of GTP to Ras-proximate-1 or Ras-related protein 1(Rap1). Rap1-GTP-interacting adaptor molecule (RIAM) is then recruited to the site of activated Rap1 and promotes the binding of C-terminus of talin to cytosolic domain of integrin and plasma membrane (Anthis and Campbell, 2011). The N-terminus of talin is attached with Actin filaments. On the other hand, the binding of kindlin to  $\beta$  cytosolic domain of integrin and plasma membrane helps stabilize the activated state of integrin complex which leads to higher affinity between integrin and its corresponding ligands (Meves et al., 2009).



# Figure 13. Integrin mediated Inside-out Signaling in Cell to Substratum Matrix Adhesion

The inside-out signaling starts with the activation of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) which leads to the increase of cytoplasmic  $Ca^{2+}$  and diacylglycerol (DAG), which in turn activates GEF and thus small GTPase Rap1 is activated. Rap1-GTP-interacting adaptor molecule (RIAM) associates with Rap1 and thus promotes the interaction between C-terminus of talin and cytosolic domain of integrin. The N-terminus of talin is associated with Actin. Additionally, the interaction between kindlin and cytosolic domain of integrin stabilizes the activated state of integrin complex which leads to higher affinity between integrin and substratum matrix. (Modified from Menter and DuBois, 2012)

### 1.7 Cell to Cell Adhesion

In addition to cell to ECM adhesion, cell to cell adhesion is the process by which cell attached to neighboring cells via molecules on the cell surface. Basically, it can be subdivided into three different types in mammals: tight junctions, adherens junctions and desmosomes. Tight junctions, characterized by the sealing of adjacent epithelial cells, is often found associated with integral proteins such as claudins, occludin, tricellulin and junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs) (Steed et al., 2010) Tight junction is mainly responsible for acting as a diffusion barrier to control what molecules and ions are allowed to pass through the tissues. On the other hand, adherens junctions is play a fundamental role in maintaining shape and integrity of cell and tissue (Niessen et al., 2011). The adherens junction is accomplished by the interaction between transmembrane glycoprotein cadherins, cytoplasmic protein p120-catenin and  $\beta$ -catenin, together with the recruitment of  $\alpha$ -catenin to  $\beta$ -catenin. Additionally, actin filament bridges are often formed between adjacent cells at the site of adherens junction (Harris and Tepass, 2010). For instance, in polarized epithelial cells, the actin filaments localized at the apical surface couple with cadherin family transmembrane molecules,  $\alpha$ -actinin, vinculin and catenins to form a linkage called adhesion belts between adjacent cells (Etienne-Manneville, 2011). In desmosomes mediated cell adhesion, the extracellular domains of desmogleins and desmocollins bind to each other while the intracellular domains bind with plakoglobin or plakophilins. Plakoglobin or plakophilins can then bind to intermediate filaments (IFs)

through desmoplakin. The vast network of all these desmosomes adhesion molecules provides a linkage between adjacent cells, which is essential to provide cell stability and protect cells from high mechanical stress (Delva et al., 2009).

### CHAPTER 2. THE ROLE OF SUPEROXIDE, RASG AND PI3K IN REGULATION OF MACROPINOCYTOSIS

#### 2.1 Introduction

Macropinocytosis is the mechanism for the internalization of extracellular bulk fluid phase. It has gained great interests nowadays since recent studies have shown that macopinocytosis is not only involved in various types of cells such as human innate immune system cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, but also serves as a route of infectious agents (Racoosin and Swanson, 1989, Sallusto, 1995). Dictyostelium discoideum, a free-living soil amoeba, feed upon bacteria. Decades ago, in order to easily perform genetic manipulation in liquid culture, several mutants were isolated that can grow in liquid media. The uptake of rich liquid medium is largely mediated by macropinocytosis. Additionally, the rate of uptake of fluid phase in *Dictyostelium* is several fold more than that of macrophages and thus Dictyostelium is regarded as a dedicated macropinocyte. Furthermore, a number of regulatory proteins that affect macropinocytosis are conserved between Dictyostelium and mammals. All these traits make Dictyostelium one of the attractive models organisms to study macropinocytosis. In *Dictyostelium*, the actin-based membrane protrusions, proceed, followed by the fusion between the tips of the protrusions or between a tip and the base of the plasma membrane to trap the extracellular fluid inside, and thus generate a nascent macropinosome. The nascent macropinosomes will undergo maturation steps by which they either participate the endocytic pathway to digest the luminal contents or join the route of recycling back to the plasma membrane.

Quite a few proteins are known to affect macropinocytic cup formation in Dictyostelium (figure 14). For instance, Ras GTPase activating protein, which is also known as RasGAP, mainly works as a switch to inactivate bounded small G proteins through the replacement of GTP with GDP. Nelson's group (Bloomfield et al., 2015) introduced a mutation in gene coding RasGAP Neurofibromin (NF1) in Dictyostelium and found the loss of NF1 led to an increase in the fluid uptake, Ras and PI3K activities, and oversized macropinosomes. Additionally, NF1 was recruited to nascent macropinosomes, suggesting that NF1 works as an inhibitor to downregulate the activity of Ras which in turn restricts the size of formed macropinosome (Bloomfield et al., 2015). Another study suggested that active Ras, Rac and PIP3 were present coincidently at macropinocytic cup, which in turn recruited SCAR/WAVE and Arp2/3 to the site (Veltman et al., 2016). During the process of macropinocytosis, SCAR proteins mainly localize at the rim of the cup, but it remains unclear how they are excluded from the rest of the structure. Another actin elongation promoting factor, Formin G, a member of Diaphanous-related formin, was shown to affect the formation of the macropinocytic cup by a recent study (Junemann et al., 2016). Formin is widely knowns as being responsible for the elongation of Actin filaments from the plus end of the preexisting actin filament (Evangelista, 2003). In Dictyostelium, ForG, regulated by RasG and RasB, efficiently elongates the Actin filaments at the base of macropinocytic cup with the help of profilin (Junemann et al., 2016).



Figure 14. Actin Network-related Proteins in the Macropinocytic Cup

The vast network of actin-based membrane protrusion requires a variety of molecules. SCAR and Arp2/3 mainly regulate the Actin dynamics at the rim of the macropinocytic cup while Ras, Rac1, PIP3 and Formin G recruited to the base of cup to strengthen the formation of cup through the modulation of Actin cytoskeleton. (Modified from Veltman et al., 2016)

After the closure and fission of the macopinocytic cup, the plasma membrane proteins which are responsible for macropinocytosis are immediately recycled after the recruitment of WASH (WASP and SCAR homolog) and retromers to the macropinosome. After further investigation, it was found that WASH could mediate recycling of membrane proteins in retromer-dependent or retromer-independent manners (Buckley et al., 2016). The recycling step is vital to salvage the integral membrane proteins from being digested during the maturation steps and ensure the next round of macropinocytosis. Additionally, it has been found that after the dissociation of macropinosome, a succession of groups of proteins and phosphoinositides on the nascent macropinosome occur. First, actin, actinassociated protein coronin and PtdIns(3,4)P2 or PtdIns(3,4,5)P3, were observed, which are then replaced by another a group of proteins such as endosomal trafficking regulating proteins, Rab7 and LmpA, and the vacuolar ATPase which induces acidification of the macropinosomal lumen within one minute after the formation of the nascent macropinosome. The mechanism of the replacement of proteins still remains to be uncovered (Temesvari et al., 2000).

In addition to proteins, other molecules are also playing an important role in modulating macropinocytosis. For instance, the dedicated macopinocyte macrophage which is from human innate immune system plays an important role in defending chronic inflammatory disease atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis is caused from the insolubility of cholesterol in blood. Low-density lipoproteins (LDLs) bind to bad cholesterol and form a complex which can then be internalized by macrophage through the process of macropinocytosis. In a recent study, Csányi and others (2017) found that NADPH oxidase 2 (Nox2) was involved in the uptake of LDL by macropinocytosis of macrophages. Nox2 is a well known producer of superoxide radicals by transferring electron from Nox2 complex to molecular oxygen. Csányi and others (2017) further determined that Nox2 signaling activates phosphoinositide 3 kinase/Akt pathway (PI3K/Akt) and actin-binding protein (cofilin) and thus stimulates membrane ruffling which is essential in macropinocytic cup formation. Considering the fact that Nox2 is a downstream of Ras-1 and protein kinase C (PKC), Nox2 may also function cooperatively with these regulators in stimulating macropinocytosis. However, the mechanism of NOX stimulation of

macropinocytosis need to be further studied. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) in macrophage still remains unknown and requires future extensive research. Veeranki and others (Kim laboratory) previously generated *Dictyostelium discoideum* cells lacking a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored superoxide dismutase, SodC. The function of SodC is to mediate the dismutation of superoxide  $(O_2^{-})$  radical into hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ . As a result, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells constitutively experience higher levels of oxidative stress characterized by modestly increased intracellular superoxide level (~18% higher compared to wild type), high basal RasG activity, and higher PIP3 level (Veeranki et al., 2008). Considering the fact that both RasG and PI3K are known to affect macropinocytosis in Dictyostelium discoideum cells (Rupper et al., 2001, Hoeller et al., 2013, Chen and Katz, 2000). We thus hypothesized that having aberrancies in both RasG and PI3K, sodC cells are likely to experience compromised macropinocytosis or later processes such as macropinosome maturation. Here we provide evidence showing that the total fluid phase uptake of  $sodC^{-}$  cells was unaffected but they do have aberrant endosomal vesicle trafficking and the introduction of overexpressing of cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA), redox insensitive RasG (C118A) or treatment of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells significantly rescued the defects of endosomal vesicle trafficking.

### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### **2.2.1 Dictyostelium Development and Growth**

All Dictyostelium discodium cells were grown in D3T media (Dissolve 14.3 g of

Peptone No.3, 7.15 g of yeast extract, 15.4 g of Glucose, 0.48 g of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 0.525 g of Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O in Deionized water and top off to 1 L. Autoclave for 40 min, let it cool down and add antibiotics mixture to make the final D3T media has 100  $\mu$ g/ml of ampicillin, 25  $\mu$ g/ml of tetracycline and 25  $\mu$ g/ml of chloramphenicol). In addition to D3T medium, JH10 cells will be grown with thymidine (0.5 mg/ml) and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells will also be grown in thymidine (0.5 mg/ml) and Blasticidin (5  $\mu$ g/ml). Both types of cells were grown in shaking cultures at 19 °C at 150 rpm or in culture flasks at 19 °C for about 24 hours until they were in log phase. Cell number were monitored using a hemocytometer. Cell number for every experiment performed were between 2x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml to 2.5x10<sup>6</sup>cells/ml.

### 2.2.2 Analysis of Pinocytosis using FITC Labeled Dextran

Log phase *Dictyostelium* cells were pelleted in a table top centrifuge and resuspended in D3T media at a concentration of 2.5 x  $10^6$  cells/ml. Let cells recover on a shaker at 19 °C at 150 rpm for 30 min. For LY 294002 treatment comparison group, cells were added with LY 294002 at 10 minute time point during recover period Fluorescein isothiocyanate–dextran (Sigma Aldrich) was added to cell suspensions at a concentration of 1mg/ml. Mixtures of *Dictyostelium* cells and FITC-dextran were incubated in shaking cultures at 19 °C at 150 rpm for 30 min, 60 min and 120 min. At different time intervals, 1 ml of the sample was withdrawn and washed with two times of 1 ml of ice cold Sorensen buffer. The pellets were then re-suspended with 1 ml of TTG lysis buffer and 50 ul of the lysates were taken to determine protein concentration by performing the BCA assay described earlier. The rest of the lysates were re-suspended with 2.05 ml of TTG lysis buffer and fluorescence was measured using spectrofluorimeter (Schimadzu RF-1501, excitation 470 nm; emission 515 nm). Fluorescence data were divided by protein concentration and plotted into relative percentage by setting the data of wild type cell at 2 hour time point as 100 percent. All of the assays were repeated at least three times to get statistical analysis by performing unpaired t test. Internalized FITC-dextran images were taken using 100x oil lens on a Leica DM IRB inverted epifluorescence microscope equipped with CoolSNAP digital camera and OpenLab imaging software. Quantitation of mean number of vacuoles and mean size of vacuoles of 90 cells was performed followed by unpaired t test to get statistical analysis.

### 2.3 Results

### 2.3.1 *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking while the Total Amount of Fluid Phase Uptake was Unaffected

Dictyostelium cells lacking Superoxide dismutase C (sodC) have been reported to have defects in chemotaxis, the process by which cells move towards high chemical gradients. During chemotaxis, the aberrant regulation of superoxide in sodC<sup>-</sup> cells led to high basal RasG activity and high PIP3 level, which in turn hamper PKB activity and F-Actin remodeling at the leading front of sodC<sup>-</sup> cells (Veeranki et al., 2008). Given that both macropinocytosis and chemotaxis involve F-Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement at the plasma membrane, it will be significant to determine if macropinocytosis is also hampered in sodC<sup>-</sup> cells. Cells lacking SodC showed comparable level of relative internalized FITC- dextran at a 2 hour time point compared to that wild of type cells (Fig. 1A). However, when looking at the fluorescence images, the vesicles in  $sodC^-$  cells are bigger in size but reduced in numbers compared to that of wild type cells (Fig. 1B). Statistical analysis as described in the Materials and Methods also showed the mean number of vesicles was significantly lower and mean size of vesicles was significantly bigger in  $sodC^-$  cells compared to that of wild type cells (Fig. 1C), which indicates the endosomal vesicle trafficking is defective in  $sodC^-$  cells.

# 2.3.2 *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

To further corroborate the defects of endosomal vesicle trafficking in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells is because of the aberrant regulation of superoxide, a cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA) was introduced into *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. The fate of endosomal vesicle trafficking of *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells was then determined as described in Materials and Methods. Statistical analysis indicates that the mean number of endosomal vesicles is significantly higher and the mean size of vesicles is significantly smaller in *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells compared to that of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells, indicating that the endosomal vesicle trafficking in *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells was significantly improved (Fig. 2A & B). These together suggest that superoxide is involved in the regulation of endosomal vesicle trafficking.

## 2.3.3 *sodC*:::RasG(C118A) Cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

Considering that RasG is one of the major targets of the excessive superoxide in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cell, an introduction of superoxide insensitive RasG mutant RasG(C118A) into *sodC*<sup>-</sup>

cells would alleviate aberrant vesicle trafficking. To this end, fed with FITC-dextran and the endosomal vesicles were monitored. Interestingly, the mean number of FITC-dextran positive vesicles was significantly higher and the mean size of vesicles was significantly smaller in *sodC*<sup>-</sup>:: *RasG*(*C118A*) cells compared to those of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Fig. 3A & B), showing that the endosomal vesicle trafficking in *sodC*<sup>-</sup>:: *RasG*(*C118A*) cells was significantly improved. These together suggest that redox sensitive RasG is involved in endosomal vesicle trafficking and RasG/PI3K signaling axis is affecting the endosomal vesicle trafficking in a superoxide sensitive manner.

### 2.3.4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

Given that PI3K inhibitor LY 294002 treatment partially restored the defects of chemotaxis in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Veeranki et al., 2008), we hypothesize that LY 294002 could improve the endosomal vesicle trafficking. The fate of the endosomal vesicle trafficking was then determined after cells were treated with 50  $\mu$ M of LY 294002 for 20 minutes. The treatment of 50  $\mu$ M of LY 294002 significantly increase the mean number of vesicles and decrease the mean size of vesicles (Fig. 4A & B), indicating the endosomal vesicle trafficking was significantly improved. Thus, excessive PI3K activity in cells like *sodC*<sup>-</sup> is inhibitory to proper endosomal vesicle trafficking.

### 2.3.5 PI3K inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Inhibited Macropinocytosis of both *Wt* and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

Previous study has reported that PI3K can affect the process of macropinocytosis (Hoeller et al., 2013). To further confirm the role of PI3K in the regulation of

macropinocytosis in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells, the total fluid phase uptake was determined after both wild type and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells were treated with 50  $\mu$ M of PI3K inhibitor LY 294002 for 20min. Interestingly, both of wild type and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells showed significantly decreased level of FITC-dextran uptake compared to that of non-treated control cells (Figure 4C). Furthermore, the fluid phase uptake in LY294002 treated *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells was comparable to those of the LY294002 treated wild type cells (Figure 4C). All these together suggests that PI3K can affect the process of macropinocytosis, which is consistent with the previous study (Hoeller et al., 2013). Additionally, wild type and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells are comparable in their capacity of internalizing fluid phase in a LY294002 sensitive manner.

### 2.4 Figures







### Figure 1 sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking

(A) Relative internalized FITC-dextran of Wt and  $sodC^-$  cells were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio.  $sodC^-$  cells showed comparable level of relative FITC-dextran uptake with Wt cells as the difference between Wt and  $sodC^-$  cells was statistically insignificant. (B) Internalized FITC-dextran images of Wt and  $sodC^-$  cells at 1 hour time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and FITC-dextran fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm). Obviously,  $sodC^-$  cells showed less number of endosomal vesicles but larger size of endosomal vesicles compared to that of Wt cells. (C) 90 images of each Wt and  $sodC^-$  cells were taken to get statistically analysis of endosomal vesicle trafficking.  $sodC^-$  cells showed significantly decrease in mean number of endosomal vesicles but increase in mean size of endosomal vesicles.



## Figure 2 *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* Cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

(A) Internalized FITC-dextran images of  $sodC^-$  and  $sodC^-$ ::SodA cells at 1 hour time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and FITC-dextran fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm).  $sodC^-$ ::SodA cells showed improved endosomal vesicle trafficking. (B) 90 images of  $sodC^-$ ::SodA cells were taken to get statistically analysis of endosomal vesicle trafficking.  $sodC^-$ ::SodA cells showed significantly rescued in terms of mean number of endosomal vesicles and mean size of endosomal vesicles compared to that of  $sodC^-$  cells.





Figure 3 *sodC<sup>-</sup>:: RasG(C118A)* Cells Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of *sodC<sup>-</sup>* Cells

(A) Internalized FITC-dextran images of  $sodC^{-}$  and  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells at 1 hour time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and FITC-dextran fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm).  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells showed rescued in endosomal vesicle trafficking. (B) 90 images of  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells were taken to get statistically analysis of endosomal vesicle trafficking.  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells showed significantly rescued in terms of mean number of endosomal vesicles and mean size of endosomal vesicle compared to that of  $sodC^{-}$  cells.







Figure 4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Aberrant Endosomal Vesicle Trafficking of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

(A) *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells were treated with 50  $\mu$ M of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 for 20min as described in Materials and Methods and then internalized FITC-dextran images were taken at 1 hour time point using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and FITC-dextran fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10  $\mu$ m). *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after LY294002 treatment showed rescued in endosomal vesicle trafficking. (B) 90 images of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after LY294002 treatment were taken to get statistically analysis of endosomal vesicle trafficking. *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after LY294002 treatment were taken to get statistically analysis of endosomal vesicle trafficking. *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after LY294002 treatment showed significantly rescued in terms of mean number of endosomal vesicles and mean size of endosomal vesicles compared to that of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. (C) Relative internalized FITC-dextran of *Wt* and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells in the absence and presence of 50  $\mu$ M LY294002 were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio. Both of *Wt* and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells showed significantly decrease in relative uptake of FITC-dextran compared to that of non-treated cells.

### CHAPTER 3. THE ROLE OF SUPEROXIDE, RASG AND PI3K IN REGULATION OF PHAGOCYTOSIS

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Phagocytosis is the process by which cells attach and internalize solid particles from extracellular environment. The organism *Dictyostelium discoideum* is a unicellular eukaryote that could professionally phagocytose bacteria several folds more than neutrophils (Bozzaro et al., 2008). In addition, multiple key signaling pathways are conserved between *Dictyostelium* and mammalian cells, including pathways affecting small GTPases Ras and Rac and their downstream effectors, and F-Actin remodeling. Furthermore, *Dictyostelium* cells are highly amenable for genetic manipulation such as protein overexpression, gene knockout and gene knockdown for investigating the function of a specific protein. Recent advances in various *in vivo* imaging technologies have been indispensable for studying phagocytosis. All these traits qualifies *Dictyostelium* cell an excellent model organism to study the molecular mechanisms of phagocytosis (Maniak, 2002, Annesley and Fisher, 2009).

The overall process of phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium* is similar to that of mammalian cells. The presence of extracellular particles leads to the movement of *Dictyostelium* cell to the site of particles through chemotaxis, which is followed by the attachment of cells to particles via corresponding membrane receptors. The activation of membrane receptors stimulates a signaling cascade which regulates Actin cytoskeleton remodeling at cortical region of plasma membrane and then phagocytic cup is formed.

Phagocytic cup elongates its rim which in turn leads to the cup closure and thus form the nascent phagosome. After the dissociation of Actin-coat from the nascent phagosome, naked phagosome will undergo classical endocytic route for digestion of particles and lateral excretion of indigestible particles via exocytosis.

Various types of membrane receptor have been reported for detecting different extracellular particles. An early study showed that *Dictyostelium* cell used a lectin-type receptor to specifically target the terminal glucose on the *E.coli* lipopolysaccharide and a "nonspecific" receptor which was responsible for the internalization of hydrophilic latex beads. Another study showed that Wheat Germ Agglutinin-binding membrane receptors interact with yeast and regulate the uptake of yeast in Dictyostelium cell (Vogel et al., 1980). Recent study suggested that another phagocytic receptor SibA, a member of Sib (similar to integrin- $\beta$ ) family, regulated the phagocytosis of fluorescent latex beads through its cell adhesion function (Cornillon et al., 2006). However, the uptake of bacteria in SibA mutant was not affected which suggests that SibA might be one of the nonspecific receptors for internalizing latex beads (Cornillon et al., 2006). After the binding of extracellular particle to its receptor, heterotrimeric G protein  $(G4\alpha G\beta\gamma)$  is activated which induces the downstream signaling to regulate Actin cytoskeleton remodeling, which in turn promotes the formation of phagocytic cup (Pan et al., 2016). It has been widely accepted that Actin cytoskeleton dynamics is the key driving force to initiate phagocytosis. For examples, in early study, after the treatment of mouse macrophage with cytochalasin B, a toxin which

blocks actin polymerization, the uptake of IgG-coated erythrocytes was then hampered (KAPLAN, 1977). Dynamic Actin cytoskeleton requires the participation of nucleation promoting factors (NPF) Scar/Wave, WASP, and ENA-VASP and formin. Upon activation of certain NPFs (Scar, WASP, and ENA-VASP), Arp2/3 plays a critical role in the growth of a new Actin filament from the base of an existing filament and thus form the network of Actin filament (May et al., 2000). Formin, an Actin elongation factor, is responsible for the elongation of the plus end of F-actin (Evangelista, 2003). Further investigation of formin from *Dictyostelium* cell indicates that Diaphanous-related formin G (ForG), activated by RasG and RasB, is recruited to the site of phagocytosis and works as actin polymerase of Arp2/3-nucleated filaments which in turn drives the formation of phagocytic cup.

In addition to Actin nucleation and elongation factors, other Actin binding or associated proteins are also involved in the regulation of dynamic Actin cytoskeleton at the phagocytic cup. For example, ABP-120, an actin-crosslinking protein which belongs to the filamin group of actin binding proteins (Noegel et al., 1989). Interestingly, ABP-120 null cells showed decreased rate of up-taking particles when compared with control cells, suggesting that ABP-120 mediated F-actin cross-linking affects phagocytosis. Coronin, another actin binding protein, is localized in the dynamic F-actin rich area of *Dictyostelium*. It has been suggested to be participating in the phagocytosis because of the inefficient phagocytosis of coronin-null cells (Maniak et al., 1995). Myosin is widely known as regulating muscle contraction, but it is also an actin-associated protein functioning as a motor protein that regulates contraction, cell migration and phagocytosis. For instance, the conventional Myosin II is involved in the regulation of chemotaxis as well as phagocytosis (Bosgraaf and van Haastert, 2006), Myosin VII participates in the regulation of phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium* cells (Titus, 1999). Additionally, cofilin, the actin-destabilizing protein, is also suggested to regulate the Actin dynamics at phagocytic cup due to the finding that disruption of cofilin-regulator protein Aip1 leads to hampered phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium* cells (Konzok et al., 1999).

Phosphatidylinositol phosphates are another group of critical molecules regulating phagocytic cup formation. For instance, phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate PI(4,5)P<sub>2</sub> is responsible for the recruitment and activation of actin-related proteins and thus form phagocytic cup. Furthermore, the de-phosphorylation of PI(3,4,5)P3 into PI(3,4)P2 which is mediated by *Dictyostelium* homolog of the phosphatase OCRL (Dd5P4) plays a crucial role in closing of the phagocytic cup (Loovers et al., 2007).

After the closure of phagosome in *Dictyostelium* cells, Rab5 is recruited to the nascent phagosome and soon after that Rab5 is replaced with Rab7 which stimulates the fusion of phagosome with lysosome (Gutierrez, 2013, Vieira et al., 2003). A recent study uncovered that one of the NPF member, WASH (WASP and SCAR homolog), is essential for proper recycling of phagocytic receptor back to the plasma membrane (King et al., 2013). In this way, the integral membrane proteins are saved and ready for the next round of phagocytosis. Furthermore, a proton pump vacuolar ATPase (V-ATPase) is recruited to

the early phagosome and thus create an acidification lumen of phagosome, which is important for the degradation of particles through digestive enzymes in lysosome (Clarke et al., 2002). WASH NPF was also shown to be essential in the retrieval of V-ATPase and digestive enzymes. The indigestible material is then expelled by the cell through exocytosis.

Cells of the mammalian immune system such as neutrophils and macrophages destroy invading microbial pathogens by phagocytosis, which is preceded by chemotaxis. Upon arriving the target of chemotaxis, mammalian phagocytes are often in an environment of inflammatory response. Inflammation is a complex cellular response, but increased production of reactive oxygen species such as superoxide is often included. Thus it will be significant to understand the effects of superoxide on cellular particle uptake. The release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) occurs normally as a result of oxygen metabolism in the cells. Conversely, the excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cells can be detrimental. The well-studied harmful effects caused by the excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) include: damage to the DNA, lipid peroxidation, oxidation of amino acids and the inactivation of specific enzymes (Brown and Griendling, 2009). One of the functions of ROS that demands further understanding is its role in defense against pathogens in mammalian hosts. A study showed that increased levels of ROS facilitated the signaling to activate interferon regulatory factors three and seven (IRF-3 and IRF-7), and nuclear factor - kappa B (NF<sub>k</sub>B) that result in an antiviral state (West et al., 2011). A more recent study also showed that the production of ROS could be responsible for the secretions of interferon  $\gamma$  to control infection by the influenza A virus (Kim et al., 2013).

One of the main reactive oxygen species produced in the cell is superoxide. Normally, cells can defend against superoxide by the family of enzymes of superoxide dismutases. Sod proteins convert superoxide into hydrogen peroxide, which eventually will be converted into oxygen and water. Although the properties of superoxide have been studied *in vitro*, understanding its role *in vivo* has been proven to be difficult because of the high reactivity and the short half-life of the superoxide radical. In order to further uncover the roles of superoxide in phagocytosis, we used *Dictyostelium* cells that lack *sodC* as a model system. We hypothesized that having aberrancies in both RasG and PI3K, sodC<sup>-</sup> cells are likely to experience hampered phagocytosis. Here we provide the evidence which shows that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells are indeed compromised in up-taking TRITC labeled yeast particles. The introduction of overexpressing of cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA), redox insensitive RasG (C118A) or treatment of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 in sodC<sup>-</sup> cells significantly rescued the defects of particle uptake. Additionally, we show that  $sodC^{-}$  cells have defects in F-Actin remodeling at the phagocytic rim extension and F-Actin depolymerization of the nascent phagosome.

### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### **3.2.1 Dictyostelium Development and Growth**

All *Dictyostelium discodium* cells were grown in D3T media (Dissolve 14.3 g of Peptone No.3, 7.15 g of yeast extract, 15.4 g of Glucose, 0.48 g of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 0.525 g of Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O in Deionized water and top off to 1 L. Autoclave for 40 min, let it cool down and add antibiotics mixture to make the final D3T media has 100 µg/ml of ampicillin, 25 µg/ml of tetracycline and 25 µg/ml of chloramphenicol). In addition to D3T medium, JH10 cells will be grown with thymidine (0.5 mg/ml) and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells will also be grown in thymidine (0.5 mg/ml) and Blasticidin (5 µg/ml). Both types of cells were grown in shaking cultures at 19 °C at 150 rpm or in culture flasks at 19 °C for about 24 hours until they were in log phase. Cell number were monitored using a hemocytometer. Cell number for every experiment performed were between  $2x10^6$  cells/ml to  $2.5x10^6$ cells/ml.

### **3.2.2 Bacterial Cell Culture**

The E. coli bacterial cells which contained plasmids of interest were grown in 50 ml of LB medium and 100  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin on shaker at 37 °C for 18 hours. Once optimal growth density of E. coli was reached, the cell suspensions were centrifuged at 4000 rpm, at 4 °C for 25 min (Precision, durafuge 200R). The plasmid DNA was purified from the pellets by using midi kit (Qiagen) and DNA concentration was measured with spectrophotometer (Thermo, Genesys 10 UV ). DNA tubes were stored in -20 °C frige for future use.

### **3.2.3 Transfection**

A total of 10 million cells *of Dictyostelium discoideum* growing in the log phase were centrifuged (2000 rpm, 4 °C, 5 min), The pellets were washed in 10 ml of ice cold H-50 buffer (20 mM HEPES, 50 mM KCl, 10 mM NaCl, 1 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 5 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 1 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) and re-suspended with 70 µl of H-50 buffer. The DNA tube was resuspended with 30 µl of H-50 buffer and mixed with the pre-mixed cell solution above. Then the mixtures of DNA and cell solutions were transferred to electroporation cuvette (Fisherbrand) and perform electroporation (1000 V, 5 sec intervals between two times of pulses, BIO-RAD GenePulser Xcell). Electroporation cuvette was incubated on ice for 5 min and electroporated solutions were then transfer to a 10 cm petri dish which containing 15 ml of D3T media plus 0.5 mg/ml thymidine. A selection marker G418 was added at a concentration of 20 µg/ml after 24 hours

### 3.2.4 Analysis of Phagocytosis using TRITC Labeled Yeasts

Heat-inactivated yeast cells were labeled following the previous publication (Rivero and Maniak, 2006). Briefly, heat-inactivated yeasts were re-suspended with Sorensen buffer (2 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 14.6 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 6.0) at  $1x10^9$  yeast particles/ml. 20 ml of yeast particles were incubated with TRITC containing labeling buffer (0.1 mg/ml TRITC (T5646, Sigma), 50 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, pH 9.2) for 30 min at 30 °C and washed twice with labeling buffer without TRITC. Log phase *Dictyostelium* cells were pelleted in a table top centrifuge and re-suspended in D3T media at a concentration of 2 x  $10^6$  cells/ml. Let

cells recover on a shaker at 19 °C at 150 rpm for 30 min. For LY 294002 treatment comparison group, cells were added with LY 294002 at 10 minute time point during recover period. 0.5 ml of cell suspension was then taken after shaking for BCA assay. BCA assay samples were centrifuged, washed with 1ml of Sorensen buffer and lysed with 400 ul of TTG lysis buffer (50 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, pH 9.4, 0.2% triton X-100). 50 ul of the lysates were then taken and protein concentration was determined by performing Pierce BCA protein Assay (Thermo Scientific). TRITC-yeasts were then added at a concentration six fold to that of the rest Dictyostelium cells suspension. Mixtures of Dictyostelium cells and TRITC-yeasts were incubated in shaking cultures at 19 °C at 150 rpm for 30 min, 60 min and 120 min. At different time intervals, 1 ml of the sample was withdrawn, added to 100  $\mu$ L of tryphan blue and incubated for 3 min. The samples were then centrifuged, resuspended in 3 ml of Sorensen buffer and the fluorescence was measured using spectrofluorimeter (Schimadzu RF-1501, excitation 544 nm; emission 574 nm). Fluorescence data was divided by protein concentration and plotted into relative percentage by setting the data of wild type cell at 2 hour time point as 100 percent. All of the assays were repeated at least three times to get statistical analysis by performing unpaired t test. Internalized yeasts images were taken using 100x oil lens on a Leica DM IRB inverted epifluorescence microscope equipped with CoolSNAP digital camera and OpenLab imaging software.

#### 3.2.5 Analysis of Phagocytosis using Microscope

A total of 0.2 million cells *of Dictyostelium discoideum* growing in the log phase taken directly from shaking culture were added to #1.5 German borosilicate coverglass (Nalge Nunc International) and allowed to settle down for 5 minutes. The media on the top was then discarded and cells were re-suspended with 0.5 ml of Development Buffer (5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 5 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 6.5) and let it settle down for another 5 minutes. A total of one million TRITC-yeasts were then added directly into coverglass and mixed well. The live imaging of phagocytosis of TRITC-yeasts was taken using 60x oil lens on a DeltaVision Elite Deconvolution/TIRF microscope (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) equipped with Softworx imaging software (one frame per second, 15 seconds time intervals between each frame).

#### **3.3 Results**

#### 3.3.1 *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Phagocytosis

*sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells constitutively experience oxidative stress as a result of modestly increased intracellular superoxide level (~18% higher compared to wild type), which in turn induce high basal RasG activity and higher PIP3 level (Veeranki et al., 2008). Interestingly, both RasG and PI3K are known to affect phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium discoideum* cells (Chen and Katz, 2000, Hoeller et al., 2013). We thus hypothesized that having aberrancies in the regulation of both RasG and PI3K, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells are likely to experience severely compromised particle uptake. Growth phase *Dictyostelium* cells were

fed with TRITC-yeast for different time duration. The relative internalization of TRITCyeasts in *Dictyostelium* cells were determined as described in the Materials and Methods. Compared to wild type cells, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells displayed significantly decreased yeast uptaking, which indicates that phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells is significantly compromised (Fig. 5A). Fluorescence images also support that particle uptake of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells is hampered: a representative image of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells shows three yeasts compared to five yeasts in wild type cells (Fig. 5B).

### 3.3.2 sodC:::SodA Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells

To further corroborate that the excessive superoxides in  $sodC^{-}$  cells is linked with aberrant phagocytosis, a cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA) was introduced into  $sodC^{-}$  cells. Statistical analysis showed that there was significant increase in the relative internalization of TRITC-yeast in  $sodC^{-}::SodA$  cells when compared to  $sodC^{-}$  cells, which indicates that the defects of phagocytosis was partially rescued (Fig. 6A). Representative images also supported the observation that an introduction of SodA into  $sodC^{-}$  cells partially rescued the defects in phagocytosis of  $sodC^{-}$  cells (Fig. 6B). These together support the view that superoxide affects the process of phagocytosis.

# **3.3.** *sodC*:: *RasG*(*C118A*) Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of *sodC* Cells

As mentioned earlier, RasG is one of the major targets that are affected in  $sodC^{-}$  cell, an introduction of a superoxide insensitive RasG mutant would improve defective phagocytosis of  $sodC^{-}$  cells. Therefore, the uptake of TRITC-yeast was determined in redox

insensitive  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells. Statistical analysis indicated that there was significantly increase in the relative TRITC-yeast internalization in  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells compared to  $sodC^{-}$  cells (Fig. 7A). Representative images also supported the observation that the introduction of redox insensitive RasG(C118A) partially rescued the defects of phagocytosis of  $sodC^{-}$  cells (Fig. 7B). Therefore, RasG can affect the process of phagocytosis in a superoxide sensitive manner.

## 3.3.4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

Considering PI3K is one of the major targets of RasG and aberrantly high PIP3 level was reported in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Veeranki et al., 2008), it is plausible that the defects of phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells may be due to the dysregulation of PIP3 level. To this end, the rate of uptaking TRITC-yeasts was determined in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after treatment with PI3K inhibitor LY 294002. A recent study indicated that inactivation of TOR complex 2 (TORC2) would increase the rate and efficiency of uptaking yeast particles (Rosel et al., 2012). Another study showed that LY294002 could also inhibit TORC2 at higher concentrations. Thus, we determined the level of LY294002 treatment to ensure it does not affect the rate of TRITC-yeast uptaking in wild type cells. Both of wild type and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells grew in log phase were fed with TRITC-yeasts in the absence and presence of 15µM of LY294002. Statistical analysis showed that treatment of 15µM of LY294002 didn't affect the relative internalization of TRITC-yeasts in wild type cells but significantly increased that of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Fig. 8A), which indicates that treatment of 15µM of LY294002 partially rescued the defects of phagocytosis of  $sodC^{-}$  cells. Representative images were consistent with the observation that defects of phagocytosis of  $sodC^{-}$  cell was attentuated (Fig. 8B). Thus, properly regulation of PI3K is necessary for effective phagocytosis.

#### 3.3.5 sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in F-Actin Remodeling during Phagocytosis

During chemotaxis, Ras/PI3K signaling module activates PKB, which in turn mediates chemoattractant induced F-Actin remodeling at the leading front of a cell (Cai et al., 2010) Likewise, cells uptaking particles display Ras/PI3K activation with concomitant F-actin remodeling events at the site of phagocytosis. As previously reported or shown earlier in this dissertation, sodC<sup>-</sup> cells have aberrant RasG/PI3K signaling, F-Actin remodeling, and defective chemotaxis and phagocytosis. To further gain an insight on the function of SodC during the process of phagocytosis, growth phase cells expressing CFP-Coronin were fed with TRITC-Yeast and the live imaging of phagocytosis of TRITC-yeasts of wild type and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells was monitored using a DeltaVision Elite Deconvolution/TIRF microscope as described in Materials and Methods. CFP-Coronin (green), a marker of F-Actin, was enriched at the initial phagocytic cup in wild type cells. Then the phagocytic cup entered into the elongating step and then to the closing step (Fig. 9A). Phagocytic cup was observed to complete closure around 75 sec. Once internalized, F-Actin depolymerization ensued at 90 sec and depolymerization of F-Actin was completed around 145 sec. While in  $sodC^{-}$  cells, instead of elongation and closure of phagocytic cup, F-Actin was observed to re-enrich at the base of phagocytic cup for 5 minutes leading to incomplete internalization of TRITC-yeast, which suggested that the elongation of the rim of the phagocytic cup was defective in *sodC* cells (Fig. 9B). Another live imaging of *sodC* cells showed that, unlike complete depolymerization of F-Actin after internalization of TRITC-yeast in wild type cells, F-Actin was only partially depolymerized at 15 sec but repolymerized from 30 sec and 120 sec resulting in defective phagosome processing (Fig. 9C). These together suggest that SodC is affecting F-Actin remodeling at the phagocytic rim extension and F-Actin depolymerization of the nascent phagosome.

# **3.3.6** Sodium/Hydrogen Exchanger 1 Inhibitor EIPA Treatment didn't affect Phagocytosis of *Wt* and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

We had previously demonstrated that 25  $\mu$ M of sodium/hydrogen exchanger 1 inhibitor EIPA treated *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells displayed restored Ras regulation and significantly improved chemotaxis toward cAMP gradient. Considering that both phagocytosis and chemotaxis involve RasG and F-Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement, it was significant to determine if EIPA treated *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells display improved phagocytosis. Quantitative analysis indicated that there were no significant changes in phagocytosis of both *Wt* and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after 25 $\mu$ M of EIPA treatment (Fig. 10A & B). The level of attenuation of the aberrantly high levels of RasG in EIPA treated *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells was sufficient for chemotaxis, but it seems insufficient for uptaking yeast particles. EIPA may affect not only RasG activity, but also other targets involved in phagocytosis.
## **3.4 Figures**



### Figure 5 sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Phagocytosis

(A) Relative internalized TRITC-yeast of Wt and  $sodC^{-}$  cells were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio.  $sodC^{-}$  cells showed significantly defects in total particle uptake compared to that of Wt cells. (B) Internalized TRITC-yeast images of Wt and  $sodC^{-}$  cells at 30 min time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and TRITC-yeast fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm).  $sodC^{-}$  cells showed less uptake of TRITC-yeast compared to that of Wt cells.



# Figure 6 *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

(A) Relative internalized TRITC-yeast of Wt,  $sodC^-$  and  $sodC^-::SodA$  cells were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio.  $sodC^-::SodA$  cells showed significantly increase in particle uptake compared to that of  $sodC^-$  cells. (B) Internalized TRITC-yeast images of  $sodC^-$  and  $sodC^-::SodA$  cells at 30 min time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and TRITC-yeast fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm). Obviously,  $sodC^-::SodA$  cells showed rescued in total uptake of TRITC-yeast.



# Figure 7 *sodC*<sup>-</sup>:: *RasG*(*C118A*) Cells Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

(A) Relative internalized TRITC-yeast of Wt,  $sodC^-$  and  $sodC^-$ :: RasG(C118A) cells were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio.  $sodC^-$ :: RasG(C118A) cells showed significantly increase in particle uptake compared to that of  $sodC^-$  cells. (B) Internalized TRITC-yeast images of  $sodC^-$  and  $sodC^-$ :: RasG(C118A) cells at 30 min time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and TRITC-yeast fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm). Obviously,  $sodC^-$ :: RasG(C118A) cells showed rescued in total uptake of TRITC-yeast.



Figure 8 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Defects of Phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

(A) Relative internalized TRITC-yeast of *Wt* and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells in the absence and presence of 20min of 15  $\mu$ M of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio. *Wt* cells after LY294002 treatment showed insignificant difference when compared with *Wt* cells only. Conversely, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after LY294002 treatment showed significant increase in particle uptake compared to that of non-treated *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. (B) Internalized TRITC-yeast images of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells in the absence and presence of LY294002 treatment at 30 min time point were taken using inverted epifluorescence microscope. Phase contrast (left) and TRITC-yeast fluorescence images (right) are shown (size bar: 10 µm). Obviously, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after LY294002 treatment showed rescued in total uptake of TRITC-yeast.







## Figure 9 sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in F-Actin Remodeling during Phagocytosis

The live imaging of phagocytosis of TRITC-yeasts of Wt and  $sodC^-$  cells was taken using a DeltaVision Elite Deconvolution/TIRF microscope as described in Materials and Methods. (A) CFP-Coronin (green) was enriched at the phagocytic cup and Wt cell started to engulf the TRITC-yeast (red). The complete phagocytosis of Wt cells lasted for about 130 sec. (B) incomplete internalization of TRITC-yeast lasting for 5 min was observed in  $sodC^-$  cells which suggest the defects of phagocytosis. (C) F-actin was observed partially depolymerized at 15 sec but re-polymerized from 30 sec to 120 sec in  $sodC^-$  cells resulting in defective phagocytosis.





Relative internalized TRITC-yeast of Wt and  $sodC^{-}$  cells in the absence and presence of 25  $\mu$ M of NHE1 inhibitor EIPA were determined by quantitating fluorescence to protein concentration ratio. (A) Wt cells after EIPA treatment showed comparable level of relative TRITC-yeast uptake compared to that of non-treated Wt cells. (B)  $sodC^{-}$  cells after EIPA treatment showed comparable level of non-treated  $sodC^{-}$  cells.

# CHAPTER 4. THE ROLE OF SUPEROXIDE, RASG AND PI3K IN REGULATION OF ADHESION

#### 4.1 Introduction

Adhesion is the process by which cells attach to substratum matrix or its adjacent cell through specialized protein complexes that include adhesion receptors. The overall process of integrin mediated cell to substratum adhesion by *Dictyostelium* cell involves several phases. The initial attachment of cells to substratum matrix via electrostatic interaction followed by the interaction between extracellular domain of integrin and substratum matrix. Cell to substratum matrix adhesion is then strengthened by the formation of focal adhesion (FA) complex.

Integrin family proteins, as classical cell to substratum matrix adhesion receptors, play an essential role in mammalian cells by providing linkage between extracellular ligands and intracellular signaling and orchestrating multiple signaling events such as cell differentiation, cell cycle and actin remodeling related events such as cell migration. In *Dictyostelium* cells, a number of adhesion receptors and adhesion molecules have been discovered. For instance, similar to Integrin Beta protein A (SibA), is regarded as a membrane protein that affects phagocytosis. After detailed structural studies by Cornillon and others (2006) suggested that *Dictyostelium* SibA is likely an ortholog of integrin  $\beta$ chains of higher animals based on the highly conserved domain structures. For example, both SibA and integrin  $\beta$  chains of higher animals contain the von Willebrand factor type A domain (VWA). Furthermore, *sibA*<sup>+</sup> cells showed defective cell to substratum matrix adhesion, which was suggested to be the consequence of the lack of SibA association with talin. Considering that Talin is the key regulatory protein that controls Integrin function in mammalian cells, it was strongly suggested that SibA is Integrin orthologue of *Dictyostelium* cells (Cornillon et al., 2006),

As just mentioned before, talin is one of the most critical regulators that affects the cell to substratum adhesion in mammals (Das et al., 2014). Dictyostelium cells have two talin homologues, talA and talB. The disruption of talA and/or talB caused reduced cell to substratum matrix adhesion. Moreover, overexpression of talA into talB<sup>-</sup> cells or talB into  $talA^{-}$  cells empowered the cells to better adhere to the substratum. Talin was also shown to be essential for the formation of paxillin-rich adhesion complexes, suggesting that Talin is a part of adhesion complex supporting integrin receptor proteins (Tsujioka et al., 2008). A more recent study by Katarzyna and others (2016) suggested that small GTPase Rap1 of Dictyostelium cell plays a crucial role in activating talB through the interaction between Rap1 and Ras association (RA) domain of talB and thus regulates cell to substratum matrix adhesion. This interaction is similar to that of mammalian cells characterized by the binding of Rap1 and talin mediated by scaffold protein RIAM (Plak et al., 2016). Another small GTPase RasG was also suggested to affect cell to substratum adhesion considering the fact that the disruption of *rasG* led to flattening of Dictyostelium cells in morphology together with stronger adhesiveness of substratum matrix (Tuxworth et al., 1997). Adhesion-deficient protein A (SadA) is another adhesion receptor given that the disruption

of *sadA* led to the complete detachment of mutant cell from substratum matrix in growth medium (Fey et al., 2002).

A few adhesion receptors affecting cell-to-cell adhesion have been identified in *Dictyostelium* cells. During the early stage of cell development, a glycoprotein DdCad-1 (gp24), which is similar to vertebrate cadherins, plays an essential role in cell to cell adhesion (Brar and Siu, 1993).

One of the obvious downstream target of Ras proteins during phagocytosis is NPF Formin. It is, however, unclear how Ras affect cell-substratum adhesion of Dictyostelium cells. As a downstream effector of Ras, PKB may affect cell-substratum adhesion, given that talin is one of the well characterized PKB substrates. *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells have aberrantly high level of PKBs activity (Castillo, et al., 2017), and thus have aberrantly high level of PKBmediated phosphorylation of several proteins that likely include adhesion molecule Talin, Pak, RasGEF and RacGAP proteins. Therefore we hypothesize that the defects of total particle uptake of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells could be partially due to the aberrant adhesion which may be caused by aberrant RasG/PKB/Talin signaling axis. Here we provide evidence showing that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells have defective cell to substratum matrix adhesion. Additionally, the introduction of overexpressing of cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA), redox insensitive RasG (C118A) or treatment of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells significantly rescued the defects of cell to substratum matrix adhesion.

### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Dictyostelium Development and Growth

All *Dictyostelium discodium* cells were grown in D3T media (Dissolve 14.3 g of Peptone No.3, 7.15 g of yeast extract, 15.4 g of Glucose, 0.48 g of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> and 0.525 g of Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O in Deionized water and top off to 1 L. Autoclave for 40 min, let it cool down and add antibiotics mixture to make the final D3T media has 100  $\mu$ g/ml of ampicillin, 25  $\mu$ g/ml of tetracycline and 25  $\mu$ g/ml of chloramphenicol). In addition to D3T medium, JH10 cells will be grown with thymidine (0.5 mg/ml) and *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells will also be grown in thymidine (0.5 mg/ml) and Blasticidin (5  $\mu$ g/ml). Both types of cells were grown in shaking cultures at 19 °C at 150 rpm or in culture flasks at 19 °C for about 24 hours until they were in log phase. Cell number were monitored using a hemocytometer. Cell number for every experiment performed were between 2x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml to 2.5x10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml.

#### 4.2.2 Cell Adhesion Assay

Adhesion of cells to a solid substratum was measured as described elsewhere (Khurana et al., 2005). Briefly,  $2 \ge 10^5$  of log-phase cells were plated on 3 cm tissue culture petri dishes in 2ml of D3T media and allowed to settle for 2 hours. For LY 294002 treatment comparison group, cells were added with LY 294002 at 1 hour 40 minute time point during settlement period. The dishes were then shaken for 60 minutes at 50 rpm, 70 rpm and 100 rpm. 2 ml of top media was taken and spun down. The cells pellets were then re-suspended with 100ul of Development Buffer (5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 5 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>,

1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 6.5). Cells dissociated from the substratum were counted using a Hemocytometer. Cell adhesion assays were repeated at least three times to get statistical analysis by performing unpaired t test.

#### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells have Defects in Cell-to-Matrix Adhesion

A previous study (Chen and Katz, 2000) showed that the cells expressing constitutive active RasG(G12T) exhibited enhanced cell-substratum adhesion with increased tyrosine phosphorylation of Actin. It is intuitive to perceive that the adhesion is necessary for particle uptake. One of the major targets of RasG in the context of chemotaxis is PI3K/PKB singling network, which functions through phosphorylating a group of proteins that are substrates of PKB. Upon phosphorylation, these proteins, which include adhesion molecule TalinB, were likely to exhibit differential activity to accommodate spatio-temporal remodeling of F-Actin at the leading edge of a chemotaxing cell. Given that sodC<sup>-</sup> cells have aberrant regulation of RasG/PI3K activity and aberrant PKB substrate phosphorylation under the context of chemotaxis. It is plausible that phagocytosis was affected at least in a partially redundant manner. Thus, we hypothesize that persistent RasG/PI3K activation in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells may hamper phagocytosis through aberrant adhesion. Adhesion of cells to a solid substratum was measured as described in Materials and Methods. Briefly, log-phase cells were plated on tissue culture petri dishes and then shaken for 60 minutes at 50 rpm, 70 rpm and 100 rpm. Cells dissociated from the substratum were

counted using a Hemocytometer as shown in figure 11A. Quantitative analysis indicated that  $sodC^{-}$  cells showed significantly increase in relative detached cells at 2 hour time point when compared to wild type cells which suggested  $sodC^{-}$  cells have defects in cell-to-matrix adhesion.

#### 4.3.2 sodC:::SodA Cells Partially Rescued the Defects in Cell-to-Matrix Adhesion

We hypothesize the defects in cell-to-matrix adhesion of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells is due to aberrant regulation of superoxide level. Thus, the adhesion of *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells was determined. Quantitative analysis indicated that *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells showed significantly decrease in the relative levels of detached cells at 2 hour time point when compared to those of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Fig. 11B), suggesting *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells partially rescued the defects in cell-to-matrix adhesion. Considering *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells also partially rescued the defects of phagocytosis, thus we speculate that superoxide level can affect phagocytosis through adhesion at least partially.

# 4.3.3 *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*RasG*(*C118A*) Cells Partially Rescued the Defects in Cell-to-Matrix Adhesion

To determine if the defects in adhesion of  $sodC^{-}$  cells is because of dysregulation of redox sensitive RasG activity, the cell-to-matrix adhesion of  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells was determined. Quantitative analysis showed that there was significantly decrease in the relative levels of detached  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells compared to those of  $sodC^{-}$  cells (Fig. 11C), which suggested  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells partially rescued the defects in cell-to-matrix adhesion. Together with the finding that  $sodC^{-}$ :: RasG(C118A) cells also displayed improved yeast particle uptake, redox sensitive RasG seems to affect phagocytosis through adhesion at least partially.

# 4.3.4 PI3K Inhibitor LY 294002 Treatment Partially Rescued the Defects in Cell-to-Matrix Adhesion of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> Cells

Considering that aberrant high PI3K activity in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Veeranki et al., 2008), we hypothesize that the defects of adhesion in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells is due to the dysregulation of PI3K activity. Therefore, the adhesion of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells were determined in the absence and presence of 15  $\mu$ M of PI3K inhibitor LY 294002. Quantitative analysis showed that there was significant decrease in the relative levels of detached *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells after 15  $\mu$ M of LY294002 treatment when compared to those of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Fig. 11D), indicating that PI3K inhibitor LY 294002 treatment partially rescued the defects of cell-to-matrix adhesion of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. Given that 15  $\mu$ M of LY294002 treatment also attenuated the defects of phagocytosis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells, it is plausible that PI3K activity can affect phagocytosis through adhesion, but it doesn't exclude other phagocytic steps that are potentially sensitive to PI3K activity.

# 4.4 Figures







Figure 11 The Role of SodC in regulation of Cell to Substratum Matrix Adhesion

(A) Adhesion of cells to a solid substratum was measured using hemocytometer. *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells showed significant increase in relative detached cells compared to that of *Wt* cells suggesting its adhesion defects. (B) *sodC*<sup>-</sup>::*SodA* cells showed significant rescued in adhesion compared to that of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. (C) *sodC*<sup>-</sup>:: *RasG(C118A)* cells showed significant rescued in adhesion compared to that of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. (D) *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells treated with 15  $\mu$ M of PI3K inhibitor LY294002 showed significant rescued in adhesion compared to that of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells.

### **CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION**

#### 5.1 Potential Roles of SodC in Fluid Phase Up-taking and Trafficking

The laboratory strains of *Dictyostelium discoideum* were selected toward having enhanced capacity of total fluid phase up-taking as a means of securing their food source. As discussed in the introduction, cells achieve this through multiple routes that include clathrin dependent, caveolin mediated, and macropinocytosis. *Dictyostelium* cells lacking SodC was previously shown to exhibit severe mis-regulation of redox-sensitive small GTPases such as RasG (Veeranki et al., 2008, Castillo et al., 2017). *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells suffer from constitutively enhanced level of active RasG protein, which in turn induces persistent activation of its downstream signaling targets such as PI3K and PKB. Persistently increased level of PI3K product PIP3 and persistent phosphorylation of PKB substrate are suggested to negatively affect efficient chemotaxis of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells toward chemoattractant cAMP gradient.

Decades of extensive studies on not only the mechanism of chemotaxis but also of pinocytosis and phagocytosis strongly suggest that the proper regulation of phosphoinositides and small GTPase RasG are crucial for executing these events for the survival of *Dictyostelium* cells. Considering that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells not only displayed defective chemotaxis, but also aberrant regulation of phosphoinositide metabolism and RasG, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells are likely experiencing defective fluid phase uptake and phagocytosis. The current study uncovered that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells are defective in phagocytosis, but not in the total level of

fluid phase uptake. Interestingly, the trafficking of internalized fluid was significantly altered, culminating as enlarged vesicles.

Accumulating enlarged vesicles in  $sodC^{-}$  cells could arise either through enhanced fusion of small vesicles of clathrin- and/or caveolin- mediated endocytosis or enhanced activity of macropinocytosis with concomitant suppression of the above-mentioned endocytosis, or both. To determine if the macropinocytosis activity is altered in  $sodC^{-}$  cells,  $sodC^{-}$  cells were treated with a pharmacological inhibitor that can inhibit macropinocytosis. One of such inhibitors is a PI3K inhibitor, LY294002. Intriguingly, LY294002 treated  $sodC^{-}$  cells exhibited significantly reduced level of the total fluid phase uptake compared to that of control  $sodC^{-}$  cells (Figure 4C). Furthermore, the levels of total fluid phase in LY294002 treated  $sodC^{-}$  cells were comparable to those of the LY294002 treated wild type cells (Figure 4C). These together suggest that wild type and  $sodC^{-}$  cells are comparable in their capacity of importing extracellular fluid in a LY294002 sensitive manner.

Several recent studies unveiled a new mode of cell death called Methuosis. The hallmark of Methuosis is the accumulation of enlarged vesicles without the typical phenotypes of apoptosis. Extensive mechanistic studies demonstrated that these enlarged vesicles originated from macropinosomes (clathrin independent endosomes (CIE)), of which generation depended on the presence of active Ras and disturbed fusion with early endosomes (Maltese and Overmeyer, 2014, Bloomfield and Kay, 2016). Current understanding of mammalian Methuosis suggests that persistent Ras activation and subsequent Rac activation induce the facilitated fusion of CIEs with decreased targeting toward endosomal entities (Bhanot et al., 2010), but how these aberrancies lead to the above described symptoms of Methuosis needs to be further explored.

Consistent with the involvement of aberrant Ras activation in the development of Methuosis, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells have enlarged vesicles filled with extracellular fluid which was alleviated by the introduction of redox-insensitive RasG(C118A) mutant (Figure 3A & B). Our previous study also reported that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells expressing RasG(C118A) protein displayed significantly improved directional cell migration toward the chemoattractant cAMP gradient (Castillo et al., 2017). At the molecular level, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells display significantly enhanced level of PKB protein kinases and exaggerated phosphorylation of PKB substrates proteins. Introduction of RasG(C118A) induced significantly alleviated level of PKBs substrates phosphorylation. It will be significant to determine if PKB signaling affect macropinosome trafficking as a downstream target of Ras in *Dictyostelium* cells. Understanding the mechanism of Ras mediated CIE trafficking in *Dictyostelium* cells may provide invaluable insight to the understanding of the mechanism of mammalian Methuosis.

We have also determined that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells expressing a cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA) also exhibited an alleviated phenotype of enlarged vesicles containing extracellular fluids (Fig. 2A & B). Unlike SodC protein, which encodes GPI anchoring signal and functions on the outer leaflet of membrane, SodA is a cytoplasmic protein. We

have confirmed that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells expressing SodA cells alleviated the level of active Ras proteins (unpublished data, Kabra and Kim, 2018). Thus alleviating Ras activity through three independent ways, PI3K inhibition, expression of Redox insensitive Ras mutant RasG(C118A), and introduction of additional cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase, consistently reduced the size of extracellular fluid filled vesicles and increased the number of such vesicles.

Considering that misregulation of superoxide is often associated with various types of cellular diseases, we speculate that an increased level of superoxide may also facilitate mammalian Methuosis through activating redox sensitive Ras protein in mammalian cells.

### **5.2 Potential Roles of SodC in Particle Up-taking**

Having aberrantly high level of RasG activity as well as PIP3, it was likely that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells show defective fluid phase up-taking during macropinocytosis. However, as described earlier in this study, *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells displayed aberrant trafficking of macropinosome into enlarged vacuoles, but no overt defects in up-taking extracellular fluid. Interestingly, another Actin-driven event that mediate extracellular particle up-take also involves spatio-temporal regulation of Ras and PIP3. Figure 5A and 5B show that *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells are seriously compromised in up-taking heat-killed yeast particles.

It is clear that PI3K product PIP3 accumulate at the rim of the elongating pseudopod that encompassing the particle. However, cells treated with PI3K inhibitor LY294002 displayed diverse effects on up-taking particles of different sizes and properties (Schlam et al., 2015). It has been debated for a while, and some of the consensus were that different level of LY294002 have distinct effects on phagocytosis and multiple receptors and signaling pathways exist and can be utilized in genetically distinct cell types and distinct types of particles that are being up-taken.

Previous studies and the earlier part of this study demonstrated that LY294002 treated  $sodC^{-}$  cells displayed significantly improved directional cell migration toward chemoattractant cAMP (Veeranki et al., 2008) and improved macropinosomal trafficking (Figure 4A & B). The current study also showed that LY294002 treated  $sodC^{-}$  cells internalized significantly more yeast particles than the control  $sodC^{-}$  cells (Figure 8).

Extensive previous studies showed that PIP3 could affect F-actin remodeling through three distinct effectors: SCAR/WAVE actin nucleation promoting factors, PH domain containing unconventional Myosin family members, and Akt and its substrates that encompass Talin, Pak, RasGEF, and RacGAP proteins (Veltman et al., 2016, Chen and Iijima, 2012, Kamimura et al., 2009). Thus, it is plausible that the constitutively increased level of PIP3 in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells could affect some of these PIP3 effectors and thus hamper efficient phagocytosis. It will be significant to determine if SCAR/WAVE and the unconventional Myosin proteins are aberrantly regulated in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. In addition, we have previously reported that Akt kinases are hyperactivated and subsequently their substrates are phosphorylated higher than normal in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells (Castillo et al., 2017). It

will be interesting to determine if PKB mediated phosphorylation of proteins that could affect F-actin remodeling are dysregulated in cells lacking SodC.

Upon up-taking particles, professional phagocytes recruits and activate superoxide generating NOX protein complex on the phagosome. The resulting superoxide radicals supposed to damage particles in the phagosome, but it remains to be further studied that how cells protect their own proteins. In addition, if they need to protect themselves from the rising superoxide radicals, the identity of proteins that are ought to be protected need to be discovered. We speculate here that redox sensitive Ras proteins need to be protected from the superoxide which could leak out from the phagosome through some anion channels such as ClC3 (Hawkins et al., 2007). Figure 6A demonstrated that an expression of cytoplasmic superoxide dismutase (SodA) in *sodC* cells improved yeast up-taking activity even higher than that of wild type cells. One of the possibilities of the superoxide depletion mediated elevation of particle up-taking is that a small GTPase which is negatively regulated by superoxide may function in parallel with Ras-mediated phagocytosis. As previously shown in other studies, superoxide radicals can target the cysteine in the NKCD motif of small GTPase in a positive manner, but some small GTPases that contain the cysteine residue right after the P loop region are negatively regulated by superoxide (Wey et al., 2014). Thus depleting superoxide with SodA not only restore RasG, but may also restore other yet to be identified type of small GTPases which could affect phagocytosis.

Figure 7 showed that the redox insensitive RasG(C118A) mutant expressing *sodC*cells were up-taking yeast particle to the level of wild type cells, indicating that aberrantly high level of active RasG proteins is the major factor that causes compromised particle uptaking in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. Aberrantly and constitutively activated RasG proteins may aberrantly activate several of its downstream effector. One of the RasG effector is TorC2, which was recently shown to suppress phagocytosis of *Dictyostelium* cells. Reliving TorC2 mediated inhibition may restore phagocytic capacity of *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. Another effector of RasG is one of the nucleation promoting factor Formin G. ForminG was shown to be involved in the formation of phagocytic cup, and thus dysregulation of ForG activity by aberrant RasG activity from the signals from the particle adhesion would hamper efficient nucleation of F-Actin at the initiation site of particle uptake.

### 5.3 Time-lapse Analysis of Particle Up-taking of sodC<sup>-</sup> Cells

Figure 9A demonstrates efficient yeast particle up-take by a wild type cell. An early phagocytic cup was observed as early as 30 second and complete internalization was observed at 75 second, which was in turn followed with depolymerization of actin-coat of the nascent phagosome. After 145 second post-internalization, no more actin coat was observable. *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells in contrast displayed significantly inefficient phagocytic cup elongation as shown in figure 9B. This compromised elongation of the rim of the phagocytic cup could have been the consequence of several possibilities. Persistent and global presence of PIP3 in *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells may perturb spatio-temporal activation of

SCAR/WAVE necessary for the cup elongation. Aberrant regulation of the PH domain containing unconventional myosin proteins could negatively affect the cup elongation. Global RasG activation may hamper proper Formin activation at the base of the cup, and thus discourage cup elongation.

Another defect of  $sodC^{-}$  cells was the slow depolymerization of actin coat after the phagosome closure (Figure 9C).

It has been suggested that the hydrolysis of PI(4,5)P2 is the critical regulatory point for actin disassembly from the phagosome. The level of PI(4,5)P2 on the phagosome may decrease through the action of PLC, PI3K, and 5'-Phophatases (Peracino et al., 2010). Loover and others (2007) showed that *Dictyostelium* cells lacking 5'-phosphatase OCRL-1 displayed high level of PI(4,5)P2 with delayed actin-coat disassembly and defective phagosome closure and Rupper and other (2001) also showed that cells treated with LY294002 or cells lacking PI3K1 and 2, or Akt exhibited similar phenotypes. *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells display increased level of PIP3, but conspicuously normal PTEN binding which indicates normal presence of PI(4,5)P2 (Veeranki et al., 2008). It will be interestingly to determine if *sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells suffer from the persistent presence of PI(4,5)P2 or PIP3 on the phagosome.

#### 5.4 Potential Roles of SodC in Cell-Substratum Adhesion

Figure 11A addressed adhesiveness of  $sodC^{-}$  cells toward substratum with increasing shear force. When cells attached on the substratum was agitated with rotation of 100 rpm, 10 % of the wild type cells detached from the substratum, while 40% of  $sodC^{-}$ 

cells were detached from the substratum. Currently what aspect of aberrancies of  $sodC^{-}$ cells directly causes the decrease in the strength of cell-matrix adhesion, but there are two plausible scenarios. As a typical cell to matrix adhesion receptor, integrin family proteins are central in orchestrating signaling events that not only enhancing the strength of the adhesion, but also affecting vast range of cellular responses such as cell cycle and various actin-remodeling events. The small GTPase Rap and integrin beta subunit binding protein Talin are essential for mediating cellular signals that increase the strength of adhesion. *Dictyostelium sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells have aberrantly high level of PKBs activity (Castillo et al., 2017), and thus have aberrantly high level of PKB-mediated phosphorylation of several proteins that likely include Talin, Pak, RasGEF and RacGAP proteins. Considering that Talin plays a key role in inside-out signaling that induces activation of integrin adhesion receptors in diverse eukaryotic cells, aberrant PKB-mediated phosphorylation of Talin in sodC<sup>-</sup> cells may cause hyperphosphorylation of Talin and thus decreased adhesions. It will be significant to determine if Talin phosphorylation has a role in adhesion and phagocytosis. Another possibility is that excessive PKB activity may cause a feedback inhibition of RasC/TorC2 signaling axis (Charest et al., 2010). It was shown that Tor activity is essential for mammalian cell adhesion (Chen et al., 2015), but not for *Dictyostelium* cells (Rosel et al., 2012).

Previous studies showed that cells lacking RasG displayed significantly stronger adhesion to the substratum than wild type cells (Tuxworth et al., 1997). Another study, however, showed that cells overexpressing constitutively active RasG(G12T) mutant induced stronger cell-substratum adhesion (Chen and Katz, 2000). The current study showed that active RasG is inhibitory to cell-substratum adhesion, which is consistent with the report of Tuxworth and others (1997). It will be significant to determine the levels of PKB-mediated Talin phosphorylation in cells lacking *RasG*, cells overexpressing RasG(G12T), and cells lacking *SodC*.

#### **5.5 Future Direction**

As the member of human innate immune system cells, macrophages have been playing an essential role in protecting human body by phagocytosis, which is characterized by internalizing substances such as cellular debris, microbes, and cancer cells. The dysfunction of macrophage can cause frequent infections and diseases like chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). The main reason for causing CGD is the failure of immune cells which including macrophages to produce reactive oxygen species such as superoxide via NADPH oxidase. However, excessive superoxides can also lead to a variety of side effects such as DNA damage, lipid peroxidation, oxidation of amino acids, and inactivation of specific enzymes (Brown and Griendling, 2009). Fortunately, the existence of superoxide dismutase in nearly all living cells exposed to oxygen allows cells to keep a proper level of superoxide and thus enable cells to utilize superoxide as a killing agent for invading pathogens. Previous study has reported that extracellular superoxide dismutase (EC-SOD) stimulates the phagocytosis and the killing of *Escherichia coli* in mice macrophage considering that macrophages lacing EC-SOD showed significantly compromised phagocytosis and clearance of bacteria (Manni et al., 2011). However, how superoxide dismutase affects phagocytosis of macrophage and other phagocytic cells are not well understood. According to the results of early part of this dissertation and previous study, superoxide directly targets cysteine in NKCD motif of RasG and in turn induces aberrantly high level of active RasG (Castillo et al., 2017), which is the major factor driving the defective phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium sodC*<sup>-</sup> cells. Additionally, the aberrantly high level of RasG may well hamper the activity of its downstream target Formin G and thus hamper the phagocytic cup elongation (Evangelista, 2003). Furthermore, persistent high level of PIP3 may also perturb its' downstream effectors such as SCAR/WAVE, myosin, PKB and PKB substrates, and then causes defective F-Actin remodeling (Veltman et al., 2016, Chen and Iijima, 2012, Kamimura et al., 2009). Similarly, a previous study on the phagocytosis of macrophage suggested that Ras homolog gene family member A (RhoA) is activated after CR3 binds to ic3b-opsonized particle. The activation of RhoA then in turn would activate its downstream target mammalian formin mDia and affect the F-Actin dynamics (Colucci-Guyon et al., 2005). Another study indicated that RhoA is activated after the internalization of IgG-opsonized zymosan through phagocytosis by macrophage, which in turn induces the stable binding of RhoA-GTP to Rho guanosine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (RhoGDI) and thus leads to the dissociation of inactive Rac1 from Rac1-RhoGDI complex. Rac1 is then activated by guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Vav2) and then stimulates the activation of NADPH-oxidase and thus produce superoxide (Li et al., 2012). It is thus of interest to determine if superoxide dismutases are involved in the modulation of superoxide mediated effects such as bactericidal activity in the phagosome or may play a role in the upstream signaling events as suggested in this dissertation.

#### REFERENCES

- Amyere, M., Payrastre, B., Krause, U., Smissen, P. V. D., Veithen, A. and Courtoy,
   P. J. (2000). Constitutive Macropinocytosis in Oncogene-transformed Fibroblasts
   Depends on Sequential Permanent Activation of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase and
   Phospholipase C. *Mol. Biol. Cell.*
- Anderson, R. G. W. (1998). THE CAVEOLAE MEMBRANE SYSTEM. Annu. Rev. Biochem.
- Anderson, C., Shen, L., Eicher, D., Wewers, M. and Gill, J. (1990). Phagocytosis mediated by three distinct Fc gamma receptor classes on human leukocytes. *J. Exp. Med.*
- Annesley, S. J. and Fisher, P. R. (2009). Dictyostelium discoideum-a model for many reasons. *Mol. Cell. Biochem*.
- Anthis, N. J. and Campbell, I. D. (2011). The tail of integrin activation. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*
- Araki, N. (2003). Phosphoinositide-3-kinase-independent contractile activities associated with Fcgamma-receptor-mediated phagocytosis and macropinocytosis in macrophages. J. Cell Sci.
- **Bar-Sagi, D. and Feramisco, J. R.** (1986). Induction of membrane ruffling and fluidphase pinocytosis in quiescent fibroblasts by ras proteins. *Science (80-. )*.
- Bhanot, H., Young, A. M., Overmeyer, J. H. and Maltese, W. A. (2010). Induction of Nonapoptotic Cell Death by Activated Ras Requires Inverse Regulation of Rac1 and Arf6. *Mol. Cancer Res.*

Bloomfield, G. and Kay, R. R. (2016). Uses and abuses of macropinocytosis. J. Cell Sci.

- Bloomfield, G., Traynor, D., Sander, S. P., Veltman, D. M., Pachebat, J. A. and Kay,
   R. R. (2015). Neurofibromin controls macropinocytosis and phagocytosis in
   Dictyostelium. *Elife*.
- Bosgraaf, L. and van Haastert, P. J. M. (2006). The regulation of myosin II in Dictyostelium. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.*

- Botelho, R. J., Teruel, M., Dierckman, R., Anderson, R., Wells, A., York, J. D., Meyer, T. and Grinstein, S. (2000). Localized biphasic changes in phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate at sites of phagocytosis. J. Cell Biol.
- Bozzaro, S., Bucci, C. and Steinert, M. (2008). Chapter 6 Phagocytosis and Host-Pathogen Interactions in Dictyostelium with a Look at Macrophages. *Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol.*
- **Brar, S. K. and Siu, C. H.** (1993). Characterization of the cell adhesion molecule gp24 in Dictyostelium discoideum. Mediation of cell-cell adhesion via a Ca(2+)-dependent mechanism. *J. Biol. Chem.*
- Brown, D. I. and Griendling, K. K. (2009). Nox proteins in signal transduction. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*
- Buccione, R., Orth, J. D. and McNiven, M. A. (2004). Foot and mouth: Podosomes, invadopodia and circular dorsal ruffles. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*
- Buckley, C. M., Gopaldass, N., Bosmani, C., Johnston, S. A., Soldati, T., Insall, R. H. and King, J. S. (2016). WASH drives early recycling from macropinosomes and phagosomes to maintain surface phagocytic receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*
- Cai, H., Das, S., Kamimura, Y., Long, Y., Parent, C. A. and Devreotes, P. N. (2010). Ras-mediated activation of the TORC2-PKB pathway is critical for chemotaxis. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **Caron, E., Self, A. J. and Hall, A.** (2000). The GTPase rap1 controls functional activation of macrophage integrin  $\alpha M\beta 2$  by LPS and other inflammatory mediators. *Curr. Biol.*
- Castillo, B., Kim, S. H., Sharief, M., Sun, T. and Kim, L. W. (2017). SodC modulates ras and PKB signaling in Dictyostelium. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.*
- Charest, P. G., Shen, Z., Lakoduk, A., Sasaki, A. T., Briggs, S. P. and Firtel, R. A. (2010). A ras signaling complex controls the RasC-TORC2 pathway and directed cell migration. *Dev. Cell*.
- Chekeni, F. B. and Ravichandran, K. S. (2011). The role of nucleotides in apoptotic cell clearance: Implications for disease pathogenesis. *J. Mol. Med.*

- Chen, C. and Iijima, M. (2012). Myosin I. A new PIP3 effector in chemotaxis and phagocytosis. *Commun. Integr. Biol.*
- Chen, C. F. C. F. and Katz, E. R. E. R. (2000). Mediation of cell-substratum adhesion by RasG in Dictyostelium. *J. Cell. Biochem*.
- Clarke, M., Köhler, J., Arana, Q., Liu, T., Heuser, J. and Gerisch, G. (2002). Dynamics of the vacuolar H(+)-ATPase in the contractile vacuole complex and the endosomal pathway of Dictyostelium cells. *J. Cell Sci.*
- Colucci-Guyon, E., Niedergang, F., Wallar, B. J., Peng, J., Alberts, A. S. and Chavrier, P. (2005). A role for mammalian diaphanous-related formins in complement receptor (CR3)-mediated phagocytosis in macrophages. *Curr. Biol.*
- Cornillon, S., Gebbie, L., Benghezal, M., Nair, P., Keller, S., Wehrle-Haller, B., Charette, S. J., Brückert, F., Letourneur, F. and Cosson, P. (2006). An adhesion molecule in free-living Dictyostelium amoebae with integrin β features. *EMBO Rep.*
- Cox, D., Lee, D. J., Dale, B. M., Calafat, J. and Greenberg, S. (2000). A Rab11containing rapidly recycling compartment in macrophages that promotes phagocytosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*
- Cox, D., Berg, J. S., Cammer, M., Chinegwundoh, J. O., Dale, B. M., Cheney, R. E. and Greenberg, S. (2002). Myosin X is a downstream effector of PI(3)K during phagocytosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.*
- Das, M., Subbayya Ithychanda, S., Qin, J. and Plow, E. F. (2014). Mechanisms of talin-dependent integrin signaling and crosstalk. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr*.
- **Deckert, M., Tartare-Deckert, S., Couture, C., Mustelin, T. and Altman, A.** (1996). Functional and physical interactions of Syk family kinases with the Vav protooncogene product. *Immunity*.
- Delva, E., Tucker, D. K. and Kowalczyk, A. P. (2009). The desmosome. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.*
- **Donepudi, M. and Resh, M. D.** (2008). c-Src trafficking and co-localization with the EGF receptor promotes EGF ligand-independent EGF receptor activation and signaling. *Cell. Signal.*

- Ellson, C., Davidson, K., Anderson, K., Stephens, L. R. and Hawkins, P. T. (2006). PtdIns3P binding to the PX domain of p40phox is a physiological signal in NADPH oxidase activation. *EMBO J*.
- Etienne-Manneville, S. (2011). Control of polarized cell morphology and motility by adherens junctions. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.*
- **Evangelista, M.** (2003). Formins: signaling effectors for assembly and polarization of actin filaments. *J. Cell Sci.*
- Ezekowitz, R. A., Sastry, K., Bailly, P. and Warner, A. (1990). Molecular characterization of the human macrophage mannose receptor: demonstration of multiple carbohydrate recognition-like domains and phagocytosis of yeasts in Cos-1 cells. *J. Exp. Med.*
- Fey, P., Stephens, S., Titus, M. A. and Chisholm, R. L. (2002). SadA, a novel adhesion receptor in Dictyostelium. *J. Cell Biol.*
- Foster, T. J. (2005). Immune evasion by staphylococci. Nat. Rev. Microbiol.
- **Francis, C. L., Ryan, T. A., Jones, B. D., Smith, S. J. and Falkow, S.** (1993). Ruffles induced by Salmonella and other stimuli direct macropinocytosis of bacteria. *Nature*.
- **Fratti, R. A., Backer, J. M., Gruenberg, J., Corvera, S. and Deretic, V.** (2001). Role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and Rab5 effectors in phagosomal biogenesis and mycobacterial phagosome maturation arrest. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **Gu, H., Botelho, R. J., Yu, M., Grinstein, S. and Neel, B. G.** (2003). Critical role for scaffolding adapter Gab2 in FcγR-mediated phagocytosis. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **Guan, J.-L.** (2010). Integrin signaling through FAK in the regulation of mammary stem cells and breast cancer. *IUBMB Life*.
- **Gutierrez, M. G.** (2013). Functional role(s) of phagosomal Rab GTPases. *Small GTPases*.
- Hamada, F., Aoki, M., Akiyama, T. and Toyoshima, K. (1993). Association of immunoglobulin G Fc receptor II with Src-like protein-tyrosine kinase Fgr in neutrophils. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*

- Harris, T. J. C. and Tepass, U. (2010). Adherens junctions: From molecules to morphogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*
- Hawkins, B. J., Madesh, M., Kirkpatrick, C. J. and Fisher, A. B. (2007). Superoxide Flux in Endothelial Cells via the Chloride Channel-3 Mediates Intracellular Signaling. *Mol. Biol. Cell*.
- Henne, W. M., Boucrot, E., Meinecke, M., Evergren, E., Vallis, Y., Mittal, R. and McMahon, H. T. (2010). FCHo proteins are nucleators of Clathrin-Mediated endocytosis. *Science (80-. )*.
- Hewlett, L. J., Prescott, A. R. and Watts, C. (1994). The coated pit and macropinocytic pathways serve distinct endosome populations. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **Higgs, H. N. and Pollard, T. D.** (2000). Activation by Cdc42 and PIP2of Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome protein (WASp) stimulates actin nucleation by Arp2/3 complex. *J. Cell Biol.*
- Hoeller, O., Bolourani, P., Clark, J., Stephens, L. R., Hawkins, P. T., Weiner, O. D.,
  Weeks, G. and Kay, R. R. (2013). Two distinct functions for PI3-kinases in macropinocytosis. J. Cell Sci.
- Holowka, D., Sil, D., Torigoe, C. and Baird, B. (2007). Insights into immunoglobulin E receptor signaling from structurally defined ligands. *Immunol. Rev.*
- Hong, S., Ergezen, E., Lec, R. and Barbee, K. A. (2006). Real-time analysis of cellsurface adhesive interactions using thickness shear mode resonator. *Biomaterials*.
- Hoppe, A. D. (2004). Cdc42, Rac1, and Rac2 Display Distinct Patterns of Activation during Phagocytosis. *Mol. Biol. Cell*.
- Huang, W., Anvari, B., Torres, J. H., LeBaron, R. G. and Athanasiou, K. A. (2003). Temporal effects of cell adhesion on mechanical characteristics of the single chondrocyte. J. Orthop. Res.
- Iwanicki, M. P., Vomastek, T., Tilghman, R. W., Martin, K. H., Banerjee, J., Wedegaertner, P. B. and Parsons, J. T. (2008). FAK, PDZ-RhoGEF and ROCKII cooperate to regulate adhesion movement and trailing-edge retraction in fibroblasts. *J. Cell Sci.*

- Johnson, S. a, Pleiman, C. M., Pao, L., Schneringer, J., Hippen, K. and Cambier, J.
   C. (1995). Phosphorylated immunoreceptor signaling motifs (ITAMs) exhibit unique abilities to bind and activate Lyn and Syk tyrosine kinases. *J. Immunol.*
- Junemann, A., Filić, V., Winterhoff, M., Nordholz, B., Litschko, C., Schwellenbach, H., Stephan, T., Weber, I. and Faix, J. (2016). A *Diaphanous* -related formin links Ras signaling directly to actin assembly in macropinocytosis and phagocytosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*
- Kaksonen, M. and Roux, A. (2018). Mechanisms of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*
- Kamimura, Y., Tang, M. and Devreotes, P. (2009). Assays for chemotaxis and chemoattractant-stimulated TorC2 activation and PKB substrate phosphorylation in Dictyostelium. *Methods Mol. Biol.*
- **KAPLAN, G.** (1977). Differences in the Mode of Phagocytosis with Fc and C3 Receptors in Macrophages. *Scand. J. Immunol.*
- Kim, H. J., Kim, C.-H., Ryu, J.-H., Kim, M.-J., Park, C. Y., Lee, J. M., Holtzman, M. J. and Yoon, J.-H. (2013). Reactive Oxygen Species Induce Antiviral Innate Immune Response through IFN-λ Regulation in Human Nasal Epithelial Cells. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*
- King, J. S., Gueho, A., Hagedorn, M., Gopaldass, N., Leuba, F., Soldati, T. and Insall, R. H. (2013). WASH is required for lysosomal recycling and efficient autophagic and phagocytic digestion. *Mol. Biol. Cell*.
- Kobayashi, N., Karisola, P., Peña-Cruz, V., Dorfman, D. M., Jinushi, M., Umetsu, S.
  E., Butte, M. J., Nagumo, H., Chernova, I., Zhu, B., et al. (2007). TIM-1 and TIM-4 Glycoproteins Bind Phosphatidylserine and Mediate Uptake of Apoptotic Cells. *Immunity*.
- Koh, A. L. Y., Sun, C. X., Zhu, F. and Glogauer, M. (2005). The role of Rac1 and Rac2 in bacterial killing. *Cell. Immunol*.
- Konzok, A., Weber, I., Simmeth, E., Hacker, U., Maniak, M. and Müller-Taubenberger, A. (1999). DAip1, a Dictyostelium homologue of the yeast actininteracting protein 1, is involved in endocytosis, cytokinesis, and motility. J. Cell Biol.

- Larsen, E. C., Ueyama, T., Brannock, P. M., Shirai, Y., Saito, N., Larsson, C., Loegering, D., Weber, P. B. and Lennartz, M. R. (2002). A role for PKC-epsilon in Fc gammaR-mediated phagocytosis by RAW 264.7 cells. J. Cell Biol.
- Lee, W. L., Cosio, G., Ireton, K. and Grinstein, S. (2007). Role of CrkII in Fc?? receptor-mediated phagocytosis. *J. Biol. Chem.*
- Lewkowicz, E., Herit, F., Clainche, C. Le, Bourdoncle, P., Perez, F. and Niedergang,
   F. (2008). The microtubule-binding protein CLIP-170 coordinates mDia1 and actin reorganization during CR3-mediated phagocytosis. J. Cell Biol.
- Li, Y., Kim, J. G., Kim, H. J., Moon, M. Y., Lee, J. Y., Kim, J., Kim, S. C., Song, D. K., Kim, Y. S. and Park, J. B. (2012). Small GTPases Rap1 and RhoA regulate superoxide formation by Rac1 GTPases activation during the phagocytosis of IgG-opsonized zymosans in macrophages. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*
- Liao, F., Shin, H. S. and Rhee, S. G. (1992). Tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase C-gamma 1 induced by cross-linking of the high-affinity or low-affinity Fc receptor for IgG in U937 cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*
- Liberali, P., Kakkonen, E., Turacchio, G., Valente, C., Spaar, A., Perinetti, G., B??ckmann, R. A., Corda, D., Colanzi, A., Marjomaki, V., et al. (2008). The closure of Pak1-dependent macropinosomes requires the phosphorylation of CtBP1/BARS. *EMBO J*.
- Loovers, H. M., Kortholt, A., de Groote, H., Whitty, L., Nussbaum, R. L. and van Haastert, P. J. M. (2007). Regulation of phagocytosis in Dictyostelium by the inositol 5-phosphatase OCRL homolog Dd5P4. *Traffic*.
- Luo, B.-H., Carman, C. V. and Springer, T. A. (2007). Structural Basis of Integrin Regulation and Signaling. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*
- Maltese, W. A. and Overmeyer, J. H. (2014). Methuosis: Nonapoptotic cell death associated with vacuolization of macropinosome and endosome compartments. *Am. J. Pathol.*
- Maniak, M. (2001). Fluid-phase uptake and transit in axenic Dictyostelium cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gen. Subj.*

Maniak, M. (2002). Conserved features of endocytosis in Dictyostelium. Int. Rev. Cytol.

- Maniak, M., Rauchenberger, R., Albrecht, R., Murphy, J. and Gerisch, G. (1995). Coronin involved in phagocytosis: Dynamics of particle-induced relocalization visualized by a green fluorescent protein tag. *Cell*.
- Manni, M. L., Tomai, L. P., Norris, C. A., Thomas, L. M., Kelley, E. E., Salter, R.
  D., Crapo, J. D., Chang, L. Y. L., Watkins, S. C., Piganelli, J. D., et al. (2011).
  Extracellular superoxide dismutase in macrophages augments bacterial killing by promoting phagocytosis. *Am. J. Pathol.*
- Marshall, J. G., Booth, J. W., Stambolic, V., Mak, T., Balla, T., Schreiber, A. D., Meyer, T. and Grinstein, S. (2001). Restricted accumulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase products in a plasmalemmal subdomain during Fcγ receptor-mediated phagocytosis. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **May, R. C., Caron, E., Hall, A. and Machesky, L. M.** (2000). Involvement of the Arp2/3 complex in phagocytosis mediated by FcγR or CR3. *Nat. Cell Biol.*
- McBride, H. M., Rybin, V., Murphy, C., Giner, A., Teasdale, R. and Zerial, M. (1999). Oligomeric complexes link Rab5 effectors with NSF and drive membrane fusion via interactions between EEA1 and syntaxin 13. *Cell*.
- McPherson, P. S., Garcia, E. P., Slepnev, V. I., David, C., Zhang, X., Grabs, D., Sossin, W. S., Bauerfeind, R., Nemoto, Y. and De Camilli, P. (1996). A presynaptic inositol-5-phosphatase. *Nature*.
- Mercer, J. and Helenius, A. (2009). Virus entry by macropinocytosis. Nat. Cell Biol.
- Meves, A., Stremmel, C., Gottschalk, K. and Fässler, R. (2009). The Kindlin protein family: new members to the club of focal adhesion proteins. *Trends Cell Biol*.
- Moser, M., Legate, K. R., Zent, R. and Fässler, R. (2009). The tail of integrins, talin, and kindlins. *Science (80-. )*.
- Mundy, D. I. (2002). Dual control of caveolar membrane traffic by microtubules and the actin cytoskeleton. *J. Cell Sci.*
- Newmyer, S. L., Christensen, A. and Sever, S. (2003). Auxilin-dynamin interactions link the uncoating ATPase chaperone machinery with vesicle formation. *Dev. Cell.*
- Niessen, C. M., Leckband, D. and Yap, A. S. (2011). Tissue Organization by Cadherin Adhesion Molecules: Dynamic Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms of Morphogenetic Regulation. *Physiol. Rev.*
- **Noegel, A. A., Rapp, S., Lottspeich, F., Schleicher, M. and Stewart, M.** (1989). The Dictyostelium gelation factor shares a putative actin binding site with  $\alpha$ -actinins and dystrophin and also has a rod domain containing six 100-residue motifs that appear to have a cross-beta conformation. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **Olazabal, I. M., Caron, E., May, R. C., Schilling, K., Knecht, D. A. and Machesky, L. M.** (2002). Rho-kinase and myosin-II control phagocytic cup formation during CR, but not FcγR, phagocytosis. *Curr. Biol.*
- Pan, M., Xu, X., Chen, Y. and Jin, T. (2016). Identification of a Chemoattractant G-Protein-Coupled Receptor for Folic Acid that Controls Both Chemotaxis and Phagocytosis. *Dev. Cell*.
- Parton, R. G., Joggerst, B. and Simons, K. (1994). Regulated internalization of caveolae. *J. Cell Biol.*
- **Peiser, L., Gough, P. J., Kodama, T. and Gordon, S.** (2000). Macrophage class A scavenger receptor-mediated phagocytosis of Escherichia coli: Role of cell heterogeneity, microbial strain, and culture conditions in vitro. *Infect. Immun.*
- Pelkmans, L. and Helenius, A. (2002). Endocytosis via caveolae. Traffic.
- Pelkmans, L., Kartenbeck, J. and Helenius, A. (2001). Caveolar endocytosis of simian virus 40 reveals a new two-step vesicular-transport pathway to the ER. *Nat. Cell Biol.*
- **Peracino, B., Balest, A. and Bozzaro, S.** (2010). Phosphoinositides differentially regulate bacterial uptake and Nramp1-induced resistance to *Legionella* infection in *Dictyostelium. J. Cell Sci.*
- Plak, K., Pots, H., Van Haastert, P. J. M. and Kortholt, A. (2016). Direct Interaction between TalinB and Rap1 is necessary for adhesion of Dictyostelium cells. *BMC Cell Biol*.
- **Racoosin, E. L. and Swanson, J. A.** (1989). Macrophage colony-stimulating factor (rM-CSF) stimulates pinocytosis in bone marrow-derived macrophages. *J Exp Med*.

- Radhakrishna, H., Al-Awar, O., Khachikian, Z. and Donaldson, J. G. (1999). ARF6 requirement for Rac ruffling suggests a role for membrane trafficking in cortical actin rearrangements. *J. Cell Sci.*
- Ridley, A. J., Paterson, H. F., Johnston, C. L., Diekmann, D. and Hall, A. (1992). The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell*.
- **Rivero, F. and Maniak, M.** (2006). Quantitative and microscopic methods for studying the endocytic pathway. *Methods Mol. Biol.*
- Rosel, D., Khurana, T., Majithia, A., Huang, X., Bhandari, R. and Kimmel, A. R. (2012). TOR complex 2 (TORC2) in Dictyostelium suppresses phagocytic nutrient capture independently of TORC1-mediated nutrient sensing. *J. Cell Sci.*
- **Ross, G. D., Reed, W., Dalzell, J. G., Becker, S. E. and Hogg, N.** (1992). Macrophage cytoskeleton association with CR3 and CR4 regulates receptor mobility and phagocytosis of iC3b-opsonized erythrocytes. *J. Leukoc. Biol.*
- **Rupper, a, Lee, K., Knecht, D. and Cardelli, J.** (2001). Sequential activities of phosphoinositide 3-kinase, PKB/Aakt, and Rab7 during macropinosome formation in Dictyostelium. *Mol. Biol. Cell.*
- Saif, M. T. A., Sager, C. R. and Coyer, S. (2003). Functionalized biomicroelectromechanical systems sensors for force response study at local adhesion sites of single living cells on substrates. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.*
- Sallusto, F. (1995). Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *J. Exp. Med.*
- Schaller, M. D., Hildebrand, J. D., Shannon, J. D., Fox, J. W., Vines, R. R. and Parsons, J. T. (1994). Autophosphorylation of the focal adhesion kinase, pp125FAK, directs SH2-dependent binding of pp60src. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*
- Schlam, D., Bagshaw, R. D., Freeman, S. A., Collins, R. F., Pawson, T., Fairn, G. D. and Grinstein, S. (2015). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase enables phagocytosis of large particles by terminating actin assembly through Rac/Cdc42 GTPase-activating proteins. *Nat. Commun.*

- Simonsen, A., Lippé, R., Christoforidis, S., Gaullier, J. M., Brech, A., Callaghan, J., Toh, B. H., Murphy, C., Zerial, M. and Stenmark, H. (1998). EEA1 links PI(3)K function to Rab5 regulation of endosome fusion. *Nature*.
- Sirotkin, V., Beltzner, C. C., Marchand, J. B. and Pollard, T. D. (2005). Interactions of WASp, myosin-I, and verprolin with Arp2/3 complex during actin patch assembly in fission yeast. *J. Cell Biol.*
- Siu, C. H., Lam, T. Y. and Choi, A. H. C. (1985). Inhibition of cell-cell binding at the aggregation stage of Dictyostelium discoideum development by monoclonal antibodies directed against an 80,000-dalton surface glycoprotein. *J. Biol. Chem.*
- Steed, E., Balda, M. S. and Matter, K. (2010). Dynamics and functions of tight junctions. *Trends Cell Biol.*
- Sun, Y., Leong, N. T., Wong, T. and Drubin, D. G. (2015). A Pan1/End3/Sla1 complex links Arp2/3-mediated actin assembly to sites of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Mol. Biol. Cell.*
- Swanson, J. a (1989). Phorbol esters stimulate macropinocytosis and solute flow through macrophages. J. Cell Sci.
- Swanson, J. A. (2008). Shaping cups into phagosomes and macropinosomes. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*
- Takei, K., Slepnev, V. I., Haucke, V. and De Camilli, P. (1999). Functional partnership between amphiphysin and dynamin in clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.*
- Temesvari, L., Zhang, L., Fodera, B., Janssen, K. P., Schleicher, M. and Cardelli, J. A. (2000). Inactivation of ImpA, encoding a LIMPII-related endosomal protein, suppresses the internalization and endosomal trafficking defects in profilin-null mutants. *Mol. Biol. Cell.*
- Tikhmyanova, N., Little, J. L. and Golemis, E. A. (2010). CAS proteins in normal and pathological cell growth control. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*
- **Titus, M. A.** (1999). A class VII unconventional myosin is required for phagocytosis. *Curr. Biol.*

- Tsujioka, M., Yoshida, K., Nagasaki, A., Yonemura, S., Müller-Taubenberger, A. and Uyeda, T. Q. P. (2008). Overlapping functions of the two talin homologues in Dictyostelium. *Eukaryot. Cell*.
- Turner, C. E., Glenney, J. R. and Burridge, K. (1990). Paxillin: A new vinculinbinding protein present in focal adhesions. *J. Cell Biol.*
- Tuxworth, R. I., Cheetham, J. L., Machesky, L. M., Spiegelmann, G. B., Weeks, G. and Insall, R. H. (1997). Dictyostelium RasG is required for normal motility and cytokinesis, but not growth. J. Cell Biol.
- **Ungewickell, E.** (1985). The 70-kd mammalian heat shock proteins are structurally and functionally related to the uncoating protein that releases clathrin triskelia from coated vesicles. *EMBO J.*
- Veeranki, S., Kim, B. and Kim, L. (2008). The GPI-anchored superoxide dismutase SodC is essential for regulating basal Ras activity and for chemotaxis of Dictyostelium discoideum. *J. Cell Sci.*
- Veltman, D. M., Williams, T. D., Bloomfield, G., Chen, B. C., Betzig, E., Insall, R. H. and Kay, R. R. (2016). A plasma membrane template for macropinocytic cups. *Elife*.
- Vieira, O. V., Botelho, R. J., Rameh, L., Brachmann, S. M., Matsuo, T., Davidson, H. W., Schreiber, A., Backer, J. M., Cantley, L. C. and Grinstein, S. (2001). Distinct roles of class I and class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases in phagosome formation and maturation. J. Cell Biol.
- Vieira, O. V., Bucci, C., Harrison, R. E., Trimble, W. S., Lanzetti, L., Gruenberg, J., Schreiber, A. D., Stahl, P. D. and Grinstein, S. (2003). Modulation of Rab5 and Rab7 Recruitment to Phagosomes by Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*
- **Vogel, G., Thilo, L., Schwarz, H. and Steinhart, R.** (1980). Mechanism of phagocytosis in dictyostelium discoideum: Phagocytosis is mediated by different recognition sites as disclosed by mutants with altered phagocytotic properties. *J. Cell Biol.*
- West, M. A., Bretscher, M. S. and Watts, C. (1989). Distinct endocytotic pathways in epidermal growth factor-stimulated human carcinoma A431 cells. *J. Cell Biol.*

- West, A. P., Shadel, G. S. and Ghosh, S. (2011). Mitochondria in innate immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*
- Wey, M., Phan, V., Yepez, G. and Heo, J. (2014). Superoxide inhibits guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) action on Ras, but not on Rho, through desensitization of Ras to GEF. *Biochemistry*.
- Winterbourn, C. C. (2008). Reconciling the chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*
- Wu, M., Huang, B., Graham, M., Raimondi, A., Heuser, J. E., Zhuang, X. and De Camilli, P. (2010). Coupling between clathrin-dependent endocytic budding and F-BAR-dependent tubulation in a cell-free system. *Nat. Cell Biol.*
- **Zhang, W., Sloan-Lancaster, J., Kitchen, J., Trible, R. P. and Samelson, L. E.** (1998). LAT: The ZAP-70 tyrosine kinase substrate that links T cell receptor to cellular activation. *Cell*.
- Zoncu, R., Perera, R. M., Sebastian, R., Nakatsu, F., Chen, H., Balla, T., Ayala, G., Toomre, D. and De Camilli, P. V. (2007). Loss of endocytic clathrin-coated pits upon acute depletion of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*

## VITA

## CONG GU

	Born, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China
2008-2012	Bachelor of Agronomy
	Yangzhou University
	Yangzhou, Jiangsu, P. R. China
2013-2018	Teaching Assistant
	Florida International University
	Miami, Florida, USA
2013-2018	Doctoral Candidate
	Florida International University
	Miami, Florida, USA

## PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Cong Gu and Lou Kim. 2018. Superoxide dismutase C modulates macropinocytosis and phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium discoideum*. (Under Revision)

Mujataba Sharief, Cong Gu, and Lou W. Kim. PP2A/B56 and LKB1 affect PKBs substrates phosphorylation and phagocytosis in *Dictyostelium*. (Under Revision)

The mechanistic insight of superoxide induced dysregulation of particle and fluid uptake of *Dictyostelium* cells, Biology Research Symposium, Miami, FL Feb.4 2016